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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Good morning,

          3  everybody. Today we are having the hearing on the

          4  Mayor's Management Report, as it pertains to the

          5  Civilian Complaint Review Board. The Police

          6  Department has asked that the hearing that we

          7  planned to schedule for today be deferred, and it

          8  would be deferred until November 24th at this same

          9  time.

         10                 Established by Local Law 1 of 1993,

         11  as an entity separate from the Police Department,

         12  the Civilian Complaint Review Board receives,

         13  investigates and recommends action on complaints

         14  regarding the use of excessive or unnecessary force,

         15  abuse of authority, discourtesy or use of offensive

         16  language by City police officers.

         17                 The Civilian Complaint Review Board

         18  forwards complaints that it substantiates to the

         19  Police Commissioner, accompanied by specific

         20  disciplinary recommendations.

         21                 Since its creation as an independent

         22  agency in Fiscal '94, the Civilian Complaint Review

         23  Board has had difficulty carrying out its mandate. A

         24  combination of factors, including a large inherited

         25  case load, underfunding and understaffing
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          2  contributed to this difficulty.

          3                 However, at the budget hearing in

          4  March of this year, the Committee acknowledged the

          5  strides being taken for it improving the quality and

          6  efficiency of the agency's work, through increased

          7  staffing levels, professionalization,

          8  computerization, outreach and perhaps good

          9  management.

         10                 However, the most significant

         11  development in the past year is the Police

         12  Commissioner's recent statement that the Department

         13  will no longer reinvestigate all substantiated cases

         14  received from the Civilian Complaint Review Board,

         15  but will rely on the case files created by the CCRB

         16  investigations.

         17                 Furthermore, the Police Department

         18  will ask the Board to reconsider its findings in

         19  cases where the Police Department believes the

         20  CCRB's investigation warrants exoneration, but where

         21  exoneration wasn't the Board's finding.

         22                 The change in policy allows the NYPD

         23  to begin using the CCRB, in the manner in which we

         24  believe it was designed, as an independent

         25  investigative body, and was the upshot of the
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          2  ongoing negotiations between City Hall and the US

          3  Attorney's Office of the Eastern District, regarding

          4  police brutality, and how the NYPD deals with such

          5  allegations and incidents.

          6                 I have been advocating making better

          7  use of the CCRB for years. It has always seemed

          8  rather anomalous to me that there should be two

          9  investigations instead of one quality investigation.

         10                 Prior to the Louima tragedy, this

         11  civility was hampered by the Administration's

         12  repeated attempts to cut the CCRB's budget, which

         13  the Council repeatedly restored.

         14                 However, after the Louima incident,

         15  the Mayor proposed adding, and the Council and the

         16  Mayor added, a million and a half dollars to the

         17  CCRB budget. As a result, as Commissioner Safir has

         18  acknowledged, this additional funding has allowed

         19  for the hiring of more investigators and

         20  supervisors, and has improved the quality of work of

         21  the Civilian Complaint Review Board.

         22                 This proposal should allow the NYPD

         23  to resolve substantiated cases of police misconduct

         24  sent to them from the CCRB at a quicker pace.

         25                 I have in the past also recommended
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          2  that in those CCRB substantiated cases in which the

          3  Police Commissioner doesn't implement the

          4  recommendation, an explanation for the inconsistency

          5  should be provided to increase the Police

          6  Commissioner's accountability.

          7                 This will be further discussed with

          8  the Police Commissioner on December 9th, that is the

          9  date scheduled, on December 9th, when the Committee

         10  holds an oversight hearing on the status of

         11  implementation of a broad range of recommendations

         12  made by this Committee and the Mayor's Task Force

         13  following the Louima case, the majority in decent.

         14                 Today we will review the Civilian

         15  Complaint Review Board's roles and objectives as

         16  recounted in the Mayor's Management Report.

         17                 We will also ask questions on case

         18  management, case completion, head count, NYPD

         19  cooperation, and the ongoing outreach campaign to

         20  inform members of the public of their right to seek

         21  redress of their grievances against police officer

         22  pursuant to Local Law 1.

         23                 The Committee looks forward to

         24  testimony from you, Chairman Wohl and Executive

         25  Director Lopez, and to your answers to these and
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          2  other areas of concern.

          3                 We are joined by members of the

          4  Committee, from my left, Phil Reed, Madeline

          5  Provenzano, Victor Robles, and I think it is

          6  appropriate to also say that I, and I think all of

          7  us, are sorry that Roberto Rogone, who has been an

          8  unusually conscientious worker for the Committee for

          9  years, is leaving in the near future to take a new

         10  position. I think this may be your last meeting with

         11  us in the Committee as a staffer, and we appreciate

         12  your good and hard work over the years, and we will

         13  miss you.

         14                 Do you have an introductory statement

         15  that you would like to make before taking questions?

         16  I think you do.

         17                 MR. WOHL: Good morning, Chairman

         18  Leffler, and Committee members. My name is Frank

         19  Wohl, I am the Chair of the Civilian Complaint

         20  Review Board, and I am here today to testify about

         21  the agency. Also in attendance from the CCRB are

         22  Executive Director Gene Lopez, and Deputy Executive

         23  Director Florence Finkle.

         24                 Sustained and intense efforts on the

         25  part of the Board and the staff of the CCRB have in
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          2  recent years focused on reforming and refining basic

          3  aspects of the investigations. I am pleased to

          4  report that these efforts have had a tangible

          5  effect.

          6                 As Mr. Lopez will explain, the CCRB

          7  has significantly reduced the amount of time it

          8  takes to complete an investigation so that now 80

          9  percent of the cases forward to the Police

         10  Department have more than eight months remaining on

         11  the statute of limitations.

         12                 Also, during 1997 and 1998,

         13  investigators were able to make significant

         14  reductions in the agency's historical backlog, while

         15  engaging in higher caliber inquiries into new cases.

         16                 Better investigations often involving

         17  multiple interviews of complainants, witnesses and

         18  police officers have yielded more dispositive

         19  evidence greatly increasing the number of

         20  affirmative findings rendered by the Board and

         21  reducing the number of cases which are disposed of

         22  as unsubstantiated, unsubstantiated being somewhat

         23  of an inconclusive result.

         24                 There has been a progressive increase

         25  at the same time in the rate of discipline imposed
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          2  on subject officers in substantiated CCRB cases. In

          3  other words, increasing rate of agreement by the

          4  Police Department with the findings of the CCRB.

          5                 For cases substantiated and referred

          6  for 1996, for example, 34 percent of the subject

          7  officers were disciplined.

          8                 For cases referred in 1997, 49

          9  percent of the cases resulted in discipline, and for

         10  cases referred in 1998, 74 percent of the cases, or

         11  excuse me, of the subject officers received

         12  discipline.

         13                 Recent statements by the Police

         14  Commissioner, in which he noted that many of the

         15  referred substantiated cases are now trial ready

         16  when received by the Police Department, further

         17  reflect a substantially improved quality of CCRB

         18  investigations.

         19                 In recognition of the improved

         20  investigations, the Police Department has proposed

         21  to discontinue its practice of reinvestigating CCRB

         22  cases after they are referred to the Police

         23  Commissioner, and instead the Police Commissioner

         24  has proposed that the CCRB consider accepting

         25  requests by the Police Department for
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          2  reconsideration of substantiated cases in which it

          3  might seek either reconsideration by the Board of

          4  its finding, or additional investigation in

          5  preparation for an anticipated disciplinary hearing.

          6                 The Board considered the Police

          7  Department proposal, Police Commissioner's proposal

          8  at its September 8, 1999 public meeting and

          9  concluded that the proposals were consistent with

         10  the Board rules, under which the Board may

         11  reconsider any case at the request of any party,

         12  including the Police Department.

         13                 Such reconsideration could relate to

         14  the Board's finding or to further investigative

         15  steps that may be requested in order to have a

         16  complete investigative record on which to prosecute

         17  a case.

         18                 However, the Board realizes that

         19  investigations can still be improved and to this end

         20  Board members have been meeting with the Police

         21  Commissioner on a quarterly basis to address mutual

         22  concerns concerning the disciplinary process. And I

         23  might add that in our most recent meetings we have

         24  discussed implementation of the Police

         25  Commissioner's most recent proposal.
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          2                 It is our sincere hope that these

          3  meetings will assist both the CCRB and the Police

          4  Department in their efforts to identify problems and

          5  work toward coordinated solutions.

          6                 The productive relationship between

          7  the CCRB and the Police Department, as well

          8  illustrated by significant advancements in the

          9  mediation program, in April of 1998 the Police

         10  Department issued Operation Order 24 which strongly

         11  encouraged officers to participate in the mediation

         12  program.

         13                 Since that order the program has

         14  received varying degrees of support from the police

         15  unions, and as a result completed 14 mediations in

         16  1998, and 21 mediations in 1991 so far.

         17                 At this point three additional

         18  mediations had been scheduled and 13 more are in

         19  process.

         20                 Thirty-six additional cases have been

         21  accepted into the mediation program and are pending

         22  approval from the subject officer or the Police

         23  Department disciplinary assessment unit.

         24                 To assist the program as it moves

         25  toward, maturity, the number of mediators has been
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          2  increased to 22.

          3                 In May of 1999, the Board voted

          4  unanimously to suspend conciliation program in favor

          5  of an expanded mediation program.

          6                 Since the program began in 1997, the

          7  CCRB has mediated a total of 37 complaints, with 100

          8  percent success rate.

          9                 While the agency is under no illusion

         10  that this success rate can be maintained

         11  indefinitely, the fact that every mediation so far

         12  has been successful shows that mediation is a viable

         13  and effective method for resolving some complaints.

         14                 As the Committee is aware, the CCRB

         15  has been working towards the reform of its case

         16  tracking and document management system. The agency

         17  has recently contracted with several vendors to

         18  implement the new case tracking system and to

         19  institute an electronic data management system.

         20                 This case tracking system will

         21  provide the CCRB with information independent from

         22  the Police Department's computer system and will

         23  give the agency more control over a wide variety of

         24  statistical data.

         25                 CCRB's electronic data management
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          2  system will provide for electronic case files,

          3  permanent archival security and more efficient data

          4  retrieval.

          5                 This system will increase the

          6  efficiency with which the agency communicates with

          7  and responds to public or professional inquiries.

          8                 At the Board's request, the CCRB has

          9  solicited bids for the review and reformation of the

         10  statistical and analytical presentation of the

         11  semiannual report.

         12                 These three initiatives make clear

         13  that the agency will soon be able to transmit more

         14  meaningful, aggregate data to the public in an

         15  efficient manner.

         16                 The ability to create more complex

         17  and comprehensive data will also allow the agency to

         18  engage in more sophisticated statistical analysis

         19  for its semiannual reports and better identify

         20  patterns of misconduct uncovered during the course

         21  of its investigation.

         22                 It is expected that the case tracking

         23  and data management systems should be implemented

         24  shortly after the beginning of the new year.

         25                 Thus far, in 1999, CCRB outreach
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          2  workers and Board members conducted 89 meetings in

          3  order to inform the public about the agency and

          4  provide a form to address any concern the citizenry

          5  may have.

          6                 Outreach workers will attend an

          7  additional 30 events before year's end. The outreach

          8  team has begun to identify and target various groups

          9  like immigrant communities for special initiatives.

         10                 In addition, every other month

         11  beginning in June 1999, the Board has scheduled its

         12  monthly public meetings at locations around the five

         13  boroughs, and attached to this statement is a

         14  schedule of upcoming community meetings, as well as

         15  those that have been attended by staff and Board

         16  members.

         17                 I would like to thank the Committee

         18  for its time and continued support and I look

         19  forward to answering any questions you may have

         20  after Mr. Lopez completes his testimony.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         22  much, Chairman Wohl. I think a lot of the points

         23  that you made, particularly with respect to the

         24  improved timeliness of your dealing with the docket

         25  and more thoroughness are important, that have been
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          2  matters that we have been looking for and it is good

          3  to see that they are being realized to an increasing

          4  extent.

          5                 MR. WOHL: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We are joined by

          7  Council Member Martin Golden.

          8                 Mr. Lopez, welcome, again.

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: Thank you. Good morning,

         10  Chairman Leffler, and members of the Public Safety

         11  Committee.

         12                 My name is Gene Lopez, and as the

         13  Executive Director of the Civilian Complaint Review

         14  Board I am here to testify regarding the state of

         15  the agency with respect to the Fiscal Year 2000

         16  Mayor's Management Report.

         17                 Since 1996, the CCRB has worked hard

         18  to substantially improve the quality and timeliness

         19  of its investigations. The results of this effort

         20  reflects successful management by the Board of its

         21  resources. The timeliness of CCRB investigations,

         22  which is integral to conducting quality

         23  investigations, has dramatically improved since

         24  1996. The improvements are best illustrated by (1)

         25  the overall reduction in the age of the docket; (2)
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          2  the reduction of the operational backlog; (3) the

          3  increase in the number of full investigations

          4  accompanied by a decrease and the time required to

          5  complete a case; and (4) the increased rate of

          6  affirmative findings and the increased rate of

          7  discipline imposed by the Police Department and

          8  police officers against whom the CCRB substantiated

          9  allegations of misconduct.

         10                 Taken as a whole the total docket was

         11  reduced from 3,325 on December 31st, 1996, to 2,111

         12  on December 31st, 1998, a total percentage reduction

         13  of 36 and a half percent.

         14                 More importantly, the age of the

         15  docket measured by the months lapsed since the date

         16  of occurrence decreased dramatically.

         17                 For example, at the end of 1996, 570

         18  cases were older than 15 months compared to 34 cases

         19  by the end of 1998, a reduction of 94 percent.

         20                 Similarly, 1,056 cases were older

         21  than 12 months at the end of 1996 compared to 81 at

         22  the end of 1998, a decrease of more than 92 percent.

         23                 And 1,586 were older than nine months

         24  at the end of 1996 compared to 246 cases at the end

         25  of 1998, a decline of more than 84 percent.
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          2                 The CCRB ended 1998 with the largest

          3  portion of its docket, nearly 58 percent, or 1,221

          4  cases falling within the youngest age categories

          5  zero to four months, compared to 1996 when cases

          6  zero to four months old represented only 24 percent

          7  of the docket.

          8                 Thus, by the end of 1998, the CCRB

          9  essentially achieved the 12-month docket, since more

         10  than 94 percent of the cases were 11 months old or

         11  younger, compared to only 63 percent in 1996.

         12                 In 1997, the Mayor's Management

         13  Report employed the term "operational backlog" to

         14  more accurately measure the CCRB's productivity in

         15  completing cases. Operational backlog is defined as

         16  the number of cases more than four months old,

         17  calculated from the date the complaint is filed with

         18  the agency rather than from the date of the

         19  occurrence.

         20                 The rational for using this measure

         21  is that there can frequently be a significant delay

         22  between an incident in the filing of a report.

         23                 Again, from 1996 through 1998, the

         24  agency reduced its operational backlog. At the end

         25  of 1998, the operational backlog stood at 2,438
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          2  cases compared to 815 at the end of 1998, a decrease

          3  of nearly 67 percent.

          4                 Perhaps more significant, as a

          5  measure of the agency's ability to investigate cases

          6  more promptly, is the substantial reduction seen in

          7  the year end average time to complete a full

          8  investigation in the average caseload per

          9  investigator.

         10                 In 1996, an average of 433 days was

         11  required to complete a full investigation as

         12  compared with the annual average of 229 days in

         13  1998. At the same time, the average caseload per

         14  investigator dropped from 52 cases in 1996, to 22

         15  and a half cases in 1998.

         16                 During this period the proportion of

         17  fully investigated cases, the cases that are the

         18  most time consuming and complex that are undertaken

         19  by our investigative staff, to all cases, cases

         20  closed, steadily increased.

         21                 In 1996, for example, only 33 percent

         22  of all cases closed were fully investigated. In 1997

         23  full investigations constituted 56.3 percent of all

         24  cases closed, and although the percentage of fully

         25  investigated cases differed dipped to 48.6 percent
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          2  in 1998, the agency closed 5,312 cases, of which

          3  2,584 were full investigations.

          4                 The affirmative and unsubstantiated

          5  disposition rates, and as calculated from the number

          6  of full investigations resolved by the CCRB continue

          7  to be an important indicator of the quality of the

          8  agency's investigations.

          9                 As you know, substantiated, unfounded

         10  and exonerated dispositions are all considered

         11  affirmative findings because they indicate the board

         12  made definitive determinations about whether or not

         13  misconduct occurred.

         14                 The affirmative finding rate is thus

         15  a gauge of the quality of investigations.

         16                 As investigators conduct more

         17  thorough and rigorous investigations that produce

         18  more evidence, the Board is increasing able to make

         19  more conclusive judgements about police behavior.

         20  The affirmative finding rate substantially increased

         21  from 1996 when that rate was 26.9 percent, and has

         22  steadily improved since then, 38 percent in 1997 and

         23  43 percent in 1998.

         24                 In contrast, the unsubstantiated rate

         25  has steadily declined from 62.1 percent in 1996, to
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          2  49.6 percent in '97 and 42 percent in 1998.

          3                 The analysis of these and related

          4  statistical data demonstrate that the agency has

          5  sustained over several years improvements in case

          6  processing.

          7                 These improvements stem from the

          8  Board's strong management and increases in the

          9  agency's funding. Increased resources and staff,

         10  coupled with the implementation of numerous reforms

         11  to the investigative process has resulted in

         12  increasingly thorough investigations, dispositions

         13  supported by stronger and more sophisticated

         14  analysis, more timely referrals of substantiated

         15  cases to the Police Commissioner, and higher rates

         16  of discipline.

         17                 For example, in the first half of

         18  1998, 90 or nearly 71 percent of the substantiated

         19  cases were referred to the Police Commissioner with

         20  eight months or more remaining on the statute of

         21  limitations.

         22                 In the second half of that year, 74.6

         23  percent or 129 cases that were referred to the

         24  Police Commissioner fell within that same age

         25  category, and during the first six months of 1999,
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          2  115 or a little bit more than 80 percent of the

          3  substantiated cases were referred to the Police

          4  Commissioner with eight or more months left on the

          5  statute of limitations.

          6                 By investigating referring cases

          7  earlier, the CCRB ensures that the Police

          8  Commissioner will have adequate time to review the

          9  Board's recommendation and discipline police

         10  officers that have been found guilty of misconduct.

         11                 The higher caliber investigations is

         12  reflected by the fact that the Police Department is

         13  imposing discipline in the growing percentage of

         14  substantiated cases.

         15                 In 1996 the CCRB referred to the

         16  Police Department substantiated cases involving 367

         17  police officers. As of June 1999, the Police

         18  Commissioner had resolved cases involving 322 of

         19  those officers imposing discipline on 34 percent of

         20  those officers.

         21                 In 1997, the CCRB substantiated cases

         22  against 620 police officers and referred them to the

         23  Department.

         24                 The Commissioner has closed cases

         25  against 381 of those officers, imposing discipline
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          2  on 49 percent and again in 1998, when 413 officers

          3  had complaints substantiated against them, the

          4  Police Commissioner imposed discipline on 73 and a

          5  half percent of those 102 officers whose cases had

          6  been closed.

          7                 This higher rate of discipline is a

          8  function of the Police Department's recognition of

          9  the higher caliber of CCRB investigations.

         10  Unfortunately, recent trends since January of this

         11  year show that some of the gains made by the agency,

         12  since 1996, are eroding.

         13                 For example, in the first half of

         14  1999, the agency received 2,653 complaints, which

         15  reflects nearly a 14 percent increase in the rate of

         16  new complaints filed with the CCRB when compared to

         17  the second half of 1998.

         18                 As a result, the overall docket has

         19  increased by 24 percent, from 2,111 cases on

         20  December 31st, 1998, to 2,228 cases as of June 30th

         21  -- I am sorry, as of September 30th, 1999.

         22                 The operational backlog as well has

         23  increased by nearly 40 percent from 815 to 1,140

         24  cases and the 12-month docket has increased from 81

         25  cases to 159 cases reflecting an increase of more
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          2  than 96 percent.

          3                 Moreover, the average caseload per

          4  investigator has also increased by nearly 32 percent

          5  from 22 cases per investigator to now 29 cases, and

          6  the average time to complete a full investigation

          7  has increased by five percent, from 229 days to 241

          8  days.

          9                 At the same time, though,

         10  investigators have conducted more intense

         11  investigations that include second and third

         12  interviews and efforts to find witnesses, documents,

         13  and physical evidence in order to identify officers

         14  and determine whether misconduct has occurred. These

         15  efforts include additional field work.

         16                 These more intensive investigative

         17  efforts have permitted the agency in the first half

         18  of 1999 to further increase the affirmative finding

         19  rate to 50.5 percent, reduce the unsubstantiated

         20  rate to 38.9 percent and reduce the number of cases

         21  in which investigators were unable to identify the

         22  subject officers from 152 in the last half of 1998,

         23  to 83 in the first half of 1993 -- or 1999.

         24                 However, these more intensive

         25  investigations have affected the CCRB's case closing
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          2  rate. The agency closed 2,226 cases in the first

          3  half of 1999, which are 205 fewer than the agency

          4  closed in the first half of 1998, when the Board

          5  closed 2,431 cases. And 655 fewer than the last half

          6  of 1998.

          7                 Several other factors have countered

          8  the erosion of the agency's earlier gains. For

          9  example, the attrition rate for FY '99 showed a nine

         10  percent decrease from the previous fiscal year,

         11  going from a little bit more than 22 percent in FY

         12  1998 to 19.2 percent in FY '99.

         13                 Recent hires in June and September of

         14  1999 have also minimized the impact that losses have

         15  had on the agency, and while the current headcount

         16  stands at 104 investigators, we are continuing the

         17  interview process in order to fill the agency's full

         18  complement of 121 investigators.

         19                 Increasing investigative strength

         20  will enable the agency to balance increased

         21  complaint activity and the additional requirements

         22  of intensive investigations, while still providing

         23  the public with through and complete investigations

         24  of alleged police misconduct completed in a timely

         25  manner. At the same time, the increased number of
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          2  investigative staff would permit additional

          3  fieldwork to be done that might lead to more

          4  dispositive evidence for board review.

          5                 The promotions board is currently

          6  meeting to fill vacancies above the step up level 1,

          7  including assistant supervisors.

          8                 The continued implementation of the

          9  career path program will help to continue this

         10  downward trend in attrition.

         11                 The Board has recently implemented a

         12  new policy with respect to the manner in which

         13  allegations are pleaded. It is expected that this

         14  policy, which will be facilitated in part by the

         15  case tracking and electronic data management system

         16  will provide for more informative and meaningful

         17  disposition letters better suited to informing our

         18  constituency.

         19                 This shift in methodology should also

         20  provide for more uniform and sensible allegations

         21  that conform to the legal analysis utilized by the

         22  Department Advocate's Office and OATH Trial Judges.

         23                 I feel confident that the positive

         24  trends illustrated today will continue. When

         25  combined with the continued refinement of the
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          2  investigative process, it is clear that the CCRB can

          3  only become a more highly effective and efficient

          4  agency. And I would like to thank you for your time

          5  and continued support, and I would be happy to

          6  answer any questions you or the Committee may have.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Lopez.

         10                 We have been joined by Council Member

         11  Stanley Michels.

         12                 What I propose to do is begin by

         13  asking questions that sort of largely go down to

         14  page, you know, the categories on page 27 of Volume

         15  II.

         16                 So, first, with respect to case

         17  management, part of that involves, you know, cases

         18  that come in which is to some extent beyond your

         19  control. We see the number, in terms of complaints

         20  within your jurisdiction, comparing actual in

         21  '98/'99, the complaints decreased by about four

         22  percent, 5,230 in '98 to 5,002 in Fiscal '99; do you

         23  have an opinion as to what led to this decrease?

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: You are asking about the

         25  decrease in complaint activity?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Numbers of

          3  complaints.

          4                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, while there has been

          5  a decrease of about 200 complaints, there are a lot

          6  of variables that affect the complaint rate that can

          7  either cause it to go up or to go down, and it is --

          8  as I have said in the past and other Board members

          9  have said in the past, there is not one specific set

         10  of variables that one could point to, to explain why

         11  there might be decreased or increased complaint

         12  activity on in any particular period of time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And in any case,

         14  during the first six months of the current fiscal

         15  year, there was an increase to 444 complaints per

         16  month, as against 389 per month, in the first six

         17  months of the Fiscal Year.

         18                 So, in 1999, the trend is going back

         19  up, is increasing, and it seemed to have continued

         20  in the first two months of, you know, July and

         21  August, with 451 cases, so do you expect the

         22  increase that we see now in calendar '99 to

         23  continue? Or again, is it a matter of a lot of

         24  variables?

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, you are certainly
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          2  correct that the complaint rate has increased from

          3  the first half of 1999, which represents, of course,

          4  the second half of 1999, compared to the second half

          5  of 1998 and that trend has continued in July and

          6  August and September, and the rate is about 14

          7  percent more than the rate in the last half of '98.

          8                 And as I said before, as we have

          9  noticed in the past when there is a particularly

         10  notorious event, as there was with the shooting of

         11  Mr. Diallo, there has been an increased rate of

         12  complaint activity that over a period of time tapers

         13  off. And there are other factors and variables that

         14  impact on the complaint rate either in a way that

         15  causes it to go up or to go down, it is really very

         16  difficult to ascribe any particular reason to

         17  explain why complaints either go up or down over a

         18  fairly short period of time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Both of you have

         20  commented on the ability to complete more cases in

         21  Fiscal '99 than in Fiscal '98, but some of the cases

         22  were in fact truncated cases. In the middle of this

         23  page 27 we see that the percentage, that truncated

         24  cases, there is a percentage of total cases

         25  completed increased to 45 percent in Fiscal '98 to
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          2  49 percent in Fiscal '99, to what do you attribute

          3  the rising proportion of truncated cases,

          4  particularly since your testimony commented on the

          5  desirability and the achievement of having more

          6  affirmative disposition?

          7                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, as you know, we have

          8  outlined in the past with this Committee, as well as

          9  at other meetings, our increased efforts to do

         10  outreach by investigators to gain the initial

         11  cooperation of people who file complaints by being

         12  more aggressive at the early stages of

         13  investigation. We require investigators upon

         14  assignment to contact the complainant and schedule

         15  an interview within 24 hours of receipt. And before

         16  we allow investigators to submit a case for approval

         17  for the Board to truncate the case, that is to say

         18  to close the case before we reach the merits of the

         19  claim, we require them at a minimum to make five

         20  telephone contacts at various times of the day, as

         21  well as mail several letters, to inform the

         22  complainant of our need to conduct the interview so

         23  that we can begin the investigation.

         24                 Those efforts more than double the

         25  past efforts that have been made, particularly in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            30

          1  CIVILIAN COMPLAINT REVIEW BOARD

          2  the '96 period. And despite those efforts, we have

          3  seen the rate go up by a few percentage points.

          4                 In the last several months the rate

          5  has actually fallen from 49 percent to 47 percent,

          6  but I don't read much significance into that

          7  incremental decrease.

          8                 We are continuing our efforts to

          9  reach out to complainants who file their as early as

         10  possible, and we believe that is the best way to

         11  prevail upon people who make complaints to stay with

         12  the process, along with completing speedy

         13  investigations. I think that is important in the way

         14  people appreciate our efficiency and effectiveness.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just looking at

         16  the right-hand column, you know, with respect to

         17  percentage of truncated cases, we see that in Fiscal

         18  Year 2000 you are projecting that 40 percent of the

         19  completed cases will be truncated. That would be a

         20  substantial decrease from actual performance in

         21  Fiscal '99. First it seems that you just mentioned

         22  47 percent in the last couple of months, the first

         23  months of the new fiscal year, so it seems to me you

         24  are still not achieving that lower rate.

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: As you know, our goal in
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          2  FY '98 was 35 percent and we increased that to 40

          3  percent -- I am sorry, the 35 percent goal was for

          4  FY '98 and FY '99 and we increased that in our plan

          5  for FY 2000 to 40 percent. And we will continue to

          6  make our efforts and be as aggressive as we can to

          7  prevail upon people to deal with their complaints by

          8  being more timely in our efforts to interview them

          9  and do additional fieldwork.

         10                 MR. WOHL: I think something else that

         11  we have done in that area to try to complete more

         12  investigations is to see whether investigators can

         13  sometimes tend to try and meet with witnesses in

         14  locations that are more convenient for the

         15  witnesses. That is a very time-consuming thing to do

         16  and it puts significant strain on the investigators

         17  and our resources, but it may allow us to at least

         18  attack this number in the area of valid complaint

         19  made by people who would stick with the complaint if

         20  it were made more convenient, if the process were

         21  made more convenient for them, but it really is

         22  quite speculative to try and project how successful

         23  we are going to be on that level, but it is

         24  certainly a goal that I think the entire board and

         25  staff are quite determined to --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It seems like

          3  more the objective and may be the sort of thing that

          4  will pay off in a longer run by putting more effort

          5  in the beginning.

          6                 But why have you projected a 40

          7  percent truncated rate, in view of the 49 percent

          8  truncated actual experience in Fiscal Year '99 and

          9  you are still going at a 47 percent rate, why do you

         10  think 40 percent is a realistic expectation?

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, our experience in FY

         12  '98 with a goal of 35 percent was that 45 percent

         13  of all complaints closed were cases that were

         14  truncated.

         15                 In FY '99 we still maintained a 35

         16  percent goal and our experience was that 49 percent

         17  of the cases that were closed were truncated. So we

         18  adjusted our goal in a way that we thought was

         19  reasonable and attainable and increased it to 40

         20  percent, and unfortunately the recent experience has

         21  been that while there has been some downward

         22  moderation of the rate, it hasn't been large enough

         23  yet for us to achieve the goal of 40 percent.

         24                 But I think Mr. Wohl is correct in

         25  that in having achieved a younger docket, that that
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          2  affords us a greater latitude to do more, be more

          3  aggressive at particularly the early stages of the

          4  investigations to do field work where we could

          5  accommodate these schedules of complainants who

          6  otherwise might find it difficult to travel to our

          7  offices, in order to require and conduct the first

          8  interview, as well as subsequent interviews that may

          9  be necessary.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Years ago, one

         11  of the main criticisms of the Civilian Complaint

         12  Review Board, both the old board and the board early

         13  on was that there were too many truncated cases, and

         14  you have made some improvements, in a sense it seems

         15  like you are getting an increasing percentage of

         16  truncated cases, without really convincing me that

         17  -- I don't even think you are convincing yourself

         18  that you can really go down to, you know,

         19  significantly like to the 40 percent level next

         20  year. Does this sort of indicate sort of a back

         21  sliding that you are relying more and more on

         22  truncated cases, rather than on complete

         23  dispositions?

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, the truncation, the

         25  conclusion of a case that results in truncation is
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          2  largely, you know, within reason somewhat within our

          3  control by being aggressive and going out, but

          4  ultimately it is a decision that is made by a

          5  complainant that decides to not return our phone

          6  calls or letters or make themselves available for an

          7  interview. Or who formally withdraws a complaint or

          8  tells us that they are unavailable because there may

          9  be existing litigation based on the same event for

         10  which they file the complaint and based on the

         11  advice of their counselors they have decided not to

         12  go forward until the conclusion of that litigation.

         13                 So, you know, there are certain

         14  factors in this equation of truncated cases that are

         15  largely outside of our control to alter.

         16                 Certainly what we can do is be

         17  aggressive and be timely and in our efforts to

         18  prevail upon people to stay with the complaint, part

         19  of that effort would be to do additional field work

         20  in a way that would allow people the opportunity to

         21  tell us their version of the complaint in a way that

         22  is convenient for them by going to their homes or to

         23  their place of business to conduct the interview,

         24  even during regular work hours, in some instances in

         25  the evening or on weekends.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just one other

          3  category of questions in this area and then I know

          4  that Council Members Freed and Robles have

          5  questions.

          6                 With respect to affirmative

          7  dispositions, looking at Volume I, page 59, we see

          8  that the affirmative dispositions took place in 46

          9  percent of fully investigated cases, which is an

         10  increase of six percent over the 40 percent

         11  experience in Fiscal Year '98. What factors have

         12  enabled the Board to increase the percentage of

         13  affirmative findings? Is it you think more

         14  investigators and as a result fewer cases per

         15  investigator, which enable people to do a more

         16  thorough job and basically reach a conclusion? Or

         17  how do you see your being able to get more

         18  affirmative dispositions, which was one of my

         19  personal real goals from the time we created the

         20  Civilian Complaint Review Board, and was I think a

         21  real shortcoming under the old system, that most of

         22  the time, far more than now, cases did not get

         23  affirmative dispositions.

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: I think you are right. I

         25  think there is a combination of factors that help
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          2  explain the increase in the affirmative finding

          3  rate.

          4                 Certainly the increased funding that

          5  provided more investigators lowered the average

          6  caseload per investigator and that allowed them more

          7  time to devote to work.

          8                 Certainly the training that the

          9  agency has instituted has greatly helped, and part

         10  of that training I think imbued the investigators

         11  with a need to do more of an increasingly

         12  sophisticated analysis, particularly on abuse of

         13  authority allegations, like search and seizure

         14  allegations, and I think the combination of those

         15  efforts have raised the bar of what we expect from

         16  investigators in their work, certainly being timely

         17  and aggressive in seeking out interviews and getting

         18  evidence, physical evidence, or documentary

         19  evidence, and mentally aides the decision-making

         20  process by the Board panels that review these cases.

         21  You know, the more information, relevant information

         22  that we can provide in a timely way, I think has a

         23  real impact on the ability of board commissioners to

         24  arrive at a judgment about the claim of misconduct

         25  in a way that allows for them to make more
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          2  conclusive judgments about their claim.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: To me it is

          4  important, because the overwhelming amount of the

          5  attention, if not the attention generally, when we

          6  created the review board, was to get it out from the

          7  Police Department. But studies have shown that, I

          8  think it was about 15 percent of the cases, had

          9  affirmative dispositions. It is just a matter of

         10  better managing the agency so that you got real

         11  results much more frequently, and it seems to me --

         12  that is correct, isn't it, essentially that you have

         13  gone from about 15 percent of affirmative

         14  dispositions, not you but the agency, from July of

         15  -- well, take it under the old Civilian Complaint

         16  Review Board, pre-July '93 until now, 45 percent?

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, I don't know what

         18  the rate was before it was independent of the Police

         19  Department, but as of December '96, the affirmative

         20  finding rate was a tenth below 27 percent of all

         21  full investigations. And since that point we have

         22  seen certainly increased on a year-to-year basis

         23  from 27 percent to 38 percent in 1997, to 43 percent

         24  in 1998, and at the half-year mark of this year,

         25  June 30th, it came in at 55 percent and through
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          2  September --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          4                 MR. LOPEZ: -- We came in at 51.2

          5  percent on a year-to-date basis. So, we have seen a

          6  steady increase, which I think reflects all of the

          7  other empirical or quantitative indicators of

          8  improvement - the timeliness of our cases, the fact

          9  that more of our cases, than in the recent

         10  historical past, are now reaching the merit, and it

         11  is not surprising when over that same period of time

         12  the average caseload per investigator has dropped,

         13  as well as the fact that over that same period of

         14  time we received increased funded and have added to

         15  our investigative headcount.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. So, what

         17  percentage do you think is realistic for the

         18  approximate future with respect to affirmative

         19  dispositions? And how do you see it going for the

         20  balance -- well, actually what you have down here is

         21  strikingly, for Fiscal Year 2000 you have only 45

         22  percent; doesn't that sort of, you know, represent

         23  an inconsistency with your very comments that you

         24  have had this increase in affirmative dispositions

         25  you are increasing even since the end of the fiscal
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          2  year? Do you think it is desirable, it correlates

          3  with a lot of other -- and yet, you are expecting

          4  the agency to have a smaller percentage in Fiscal

          5  Year 2000, that seems to me to be sort of a

          6  backsliding, it would have seemed to me to be more

          7  of realistic to have ratcheted that up somewhat, no?

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we have ratcheted it

          9  up over the last several fiscal years. In FY '98,

         10  the goal was 35 percent, although the actual came in

         11  at 40 percent.

         12                 In FY '99 we raised the goal from 35

         13  to 40 percent, although we came in at 46 percent,

         14  and for FY 2000, we proposed an additional five

         15  percent increase from 40 percent to 45 percent.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That would still

         17  represent a backsliding for what you actually

         18  achieved in the fiscal year just ended. You achieved

         19  46 percent affirmative dispositions, but you are

         20  projecting for the next fiscal year 45 percent.

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: Right. And my answer was

         22  that over the last three fiscal years we recognize

         23  that by raising the bar from 35, then to 40 and now

         24  to 45 percent, and as we gain additional experience,

         25  I would expect that we would reconsider raising the
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          2  bar again to a higher percentage.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What kind of

          4  resources, or what is needed to get really most of

          5  the cases, well more than 50 percent, decided on the

          6  merits, which is what you would think people would

          7  want, rather than, you know, basically letting the

          8  cases not be determined on the merits?

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, first I think it is

         10  important to recognize, and I would like to direct

         11  your attention to the fact that in a case let's say

         12  that has ten allegations and the Board resolves nine

         13  of those allegations in one of the affirmative

         14  finding categories of exonerated or substantiated,

         15  as for an affirmative finding, every allegation

         16  within a case would need to be found by the Board to

         17  either be substantiated or unfounded or exonerated

         18  before it could be classified as an affirmative

         19  finding, a case with an affirmative finding

         20  disposition.

         21                 So, that is, you know, something that

         22  we ought to recognize and understand in the way we

         23  calculate and arrive at an affirmative finding that

         24  we have to come to an affirmative conclusion and the

         25  Board must accept that before we can say that it is
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          2  an affirmative disposition, that every allegation

          3  within that complaint would need to have that

          4  finding.

          5                 So, in that context, I think that

          6  what we might look forward to, in terms of increased

          7  affirmative finding rates, is a continuation of an

          8  aggressive approach towards our investigations by

          9  being timely, and also being aggressive with respect

         10  to our analysis and continuing our education

         11  programs with our investigators, particularly with

         12  issues that have to do with stop and frisk and

         13  question allegations and excessive force

         14  allegations, which are the predominant allegations

         15  in our mix of allegations that we get from the

         16  public.

         17                 And the analysis of some of those

         18  cases can be quite complex, as you know, from a stop

         19  search --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Even the Supreme

         21  Court finds that to be a major challenge.

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, I have to say,

         23  having read a lot of the closing reports, the

         24  analyses I think are quite good, and rival that of

         25  some lawyers who might submit briefs on some
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          2  questions involving search and seizure to courts,

          3  for example.

          4                 In the past we have had experts come

          5  in and lecture on our staff on the subject and we

          6  are always interested in having a continuing

          7  education with respect to those types of topics that

          8  are important to us and the payoff is of course a

          9  rigorous analysis of the facts and conclusions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 I have questions but I will go on to

         13  others and then come back.

         14                 Council Member Phil Reed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair.

         17                 Good morning.

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: Good morning.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think that it

         20  is clear that we are, as a City, making progress and

         21  I think that your agency is to be applauded for the

         22  efforts that you put forward in terms of management.

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: We have a long

         25  way to go on some of these things.
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          2                 It is difficult when you are working

          3  with human beings to try to sort out what is truth

          4  and what is fiction, and sometimes what is truth in

          5  one person's mind is not in another person's mind.

          6  And even having worked for some space and time in

          7  the public sector when people come in my office, it

          8  is sometimes very difficult to try to understand not

          9  only what is true but what really is the complaint

         10  and what is the bug that they have got that you need

         11  to try to help work through. So, I do think that you

         12  are making great efforts in that, and I also think

         13  that because we as citizens, and some of us as

         14  elected officials, have kept the pressure up that

         15  this has worked. Had we not done that in the wake of

         16  some of the tragedies that we have seen and

         17  experienced in this City, I don't think we would be

         18  making this progress. I think they all have to go

         19  together.

         20                 You ended your testimony, or your

         21  answers, on one note that I was curious about, which

         22  was particularly about training, and I have a couple

         23  of different areas that I wanted to briefly ask you

         24  about.

         25                 In the nature of training and
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          2  discipline with the police, are there avenues, if

          3  you are finding things that are perhaps murky or you

          4  can't quite make a determination one way or the

          5  other, but where you can recommend or even insist or

          6  have the police follow through with additional

          7  training for individual officers?

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: Okay --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: In other words,

         10  you said your staff was doing more and more training

         11  about stop and frisk, et cetera, et cetera, but are

         12  there opportunities for you, the CCRB, to say that

         13  police officer, or if we are beginning to see that

         14  there are more cases in one precinct or another,

         15  then in fact that is where we ought to be doing

         16  training around certain areas?

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, I think the

         18  instructive quality of our work can be found in

         19  those cases, for example, that are substantiated in

         20  which the facts are addressed in a report that is

         21  submitted to the Police Commissioner, along with the

         22  Board, after the Board has reviewed it, that

         23  analyzes what the officer did and how it contravened

         24  Department regulations or the law governing, for

         25  example, the propriety of stopping a person on the
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          2  street.

          3                 So there is an instructive quality to

          4  the reports that we issue that also provide a basis

          5  upon which the Police Commissioner may pursue

          6  discipline in those cases in which the Board found

          7  the allegations of misconduct to be substantiated.

          8                 MR. WOHL: I think also, we, in our

          9  quarterly meetings with the Police Commissioner and

         10  also informally, if we see trends developing that

         11  raise issues, we raise those with the Police

         12  Department and then the Police Commissioner can

         13  decide whether additional training or other

         14  mechanisms for bringing these issues to the

         15  attention of officers or commanding officers or

         16  precinct captains is an appropriate thing to do.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: If you don't

         18  have the ability to recommend that individual

         19  officers in specific incidences that you are

         20  investigating actually may need to do training on X

         21  Y and Z, just courtesy as one of the major things,

         22  abusive language, let's not even discuss force at

         23  the moment.

         24                 MR. WOHL: Actually, one of the

         25  recommendations that we can make if a case is
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          2  substantiated, is that the officer receive

          3  instructions, that is the lowest of the disciplinary

          4  recommendations we can make, and I think if the

          5  Police Commissioner agrees with that recommendation,

          6  then the officer is going to receive instructions on

          7  exactly what the problem was in this situation and

          8  how to deal with it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can I just ask,

         10  on the question he had just asked, if you make a

         11  recommendation, for example, that, you know, that

         12  more training is needed with the Police Commissioner

         13  with respect to officers in say, at least Harlem

         14  Precinct, is that like a personal conversation

         15  between you and the Police Commissioner? Or do you

         16  release the information to the public, like to the

         17  Council Member or to the like, so that we know that

         18  you have in fact recommended that there be more

         19  training?

         20                 MR. WOHL: I don't think it has been

         21  our practice to make a specific recommendation of

         22  more training on a programmatic basis. In individual

         23  cases we recommend instructions, and from time to

         24  time we bring to the Police Commissioner's attention

         25  specific kinds of problems, where he may decide that
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          2  the answer to those problems is more training.

          3                 But I don't believe that it has been

          4  our practice in the past to make a specific

          5  recommendation of a programmatic additional training

          6  initiative, but I am not sure of that.

          7                 I am reminded that at one point we

          8  noted and made public that we saw a problem in that

          9  the Police Department needed to handle situations

         10  differently when the wrong door was broken down in

         11  the execution of a warrant, and we suggested this

         12  was becoming a problem. As a result of that, the

         13  Police Department issued additional instructions and

         14  took steps to make sure that all of the officers

         15  knew what the proper procedures was to handle that

         16  type of situation. So, that is an example of where

         17  we would bring problems to the attention of the

         18  Police Department, and then the Police Department

         19  would decide that the appropriate way to handle

         20  those problems is to do a better job at making sure

         21  the officers new what the proper procedures were.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could I just ask

         23  one question?

         24                 If you notice, for example, there are

         25  a number of complaints with respect to alleged
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          2  improprieties with stop and frisk in a given

          3  precinct, is that -- does that lead to pointing that

          4  information out just to the Commissioner, or is it

          5  made public, or made known to others in City

          6  government?

          7                 MR. WOHL: There is obviously a lot of

          8  interest at the current moment with respect to

          9  encounters between members of the public and police

         10  officers on the street.

         11                 As soon as this issue emerged,

         12  actually I should say even before this issue

         13  emerged, as an issue of public discussion, the CCRB

         14  staff had been noting that this was an issue that

         15  required additional study.

         16                 When it emerged as a significant

         17  issue of public discussion, we initiated our street

         18  stop study, we have a committee that is looking at

         19  the issues that are raised by the CCRB's experience

         20  in dealing with these kinds of complaints and what

         21  kind of information can come out is gleaned from our

         22  experience, and we intend to make that report

         23  public, and we have made it public that we are doing

         24  a study like that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is one thing
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          2  to make major reports, you know, public once a year,

          3  once every two years, but I think the essence of the

          4  question goes to, when you get, you see a trend of a

          5  number of complaints at a given nature, like, you

          6  know, abuse of authority, you know, discourtesy,

          7  with respect to, you know, just an individual

          8  precinct, less than rising to the level of a major

          9  study, is that something that you just point out to

         10  the Commissioner or is it something that you make

         11  known to others at least in government?

         12                 MR. WOHL: We issue public reports

         13  that break down complaints by precinct and by

         14  borough in lots of different ways, the most

         15  intensive such report is of course our semiannual

         16  report. In addition, we issue statistics at each

         17  month at our public meetings.

         18                 One of the things, so it seems to me

         19  in my experience a fairly common occurrence is that

         20  members of the public or public officials see those

         21  statistics and raise issues about what those

         22  statistics might mean when they see different kinds

         23  of trends.

         24                 Sometimes we also notice statistics

         25  and just raise them informally with the Police
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          2  Department.

          3                 I would say that when we raise them

          4  informally with the Police Department we don't

          5  necessarily make a public statement or bring it to

          6  the attention of anyone else, because what we are

          7  doing is issuing to the public the same statistics

          8  that we are emphasizing, I would say, in our

          9  discussion with the Police Department.

         10                 I would add that another thing that

         11  we are doing, which I think is significant, which I

         12  mentioned, is we want to get some assistance from

         13  people who are more knowledgeable in issues of

         14  statistics than we are concerning how to present our

         15  statistics and when the statistical changes might be

         16  viewed by knowledgeable people as meaningful, or

         17  more meaningful than in other situations.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I would like to

         19  change the direction here for a moment.

         20                 There was much discussion about

         21  truncated cases; is there a way to reopen cases that

         22  are truncated?

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, sir. Upon a case

         24  being closed as truncated, and for that matter, any

         25  case that is closed by the board panel, we will
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          2  write a letter to the parties of the complaint and

          3  let them know what the disposition is. And in cases

          4  of truncated cases, they can ask for a reopening to

          5  the Board and upon review by the Board, typically,

          6  its condition upon the person actually cooperating

          7  with us. And upon the cooperation we would renew the

          8  investigation, do the interview and then go forward

          9  with the rest of the investigation.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The last two

         11  areas. Do you have any statistics about undocumented

         12  aliens, and how many cases they filed, or obviously

         13  by virtue of being undocumented many people are

         14  hesitant to come forward, but I am trying to see if

         15  there is abuse in that area and are people engaging

         16  the police at all in that community?

         17                 I have a major immigrant community,

         18  and we are hearing more and more about their

         19  interrelationship with the police, not necessarily

         20  being the best in the world. How have you been able

         21  to handle that or looked at those as issues?

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we don't require of

         23  complainants their immigration status, and what we

         24  do is we try to make presentations before immigrant

         25  groups, because we recognize, as you have, that
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          2  there might be a fear on the part of an immigrant in

          3  making a complaint to a body of government where

          4  they might be worried about what impact it might

          5  have in making such a complaint on their immigration

          6  status.

          7                 So, we want to emphasize when we go

          8  before groups, particularly immigrant groups, that

          9  we don't require of their immigrant status, and that

         10  we encourage them, if there is an abuse that they

         11  perceive by a police officer to cooperate with us

         12  and to file a complaint and we will go forward with

         13  that investigation without making inquiry about

         14  their immigrant status.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: My last

         16  question, you said that you have, the rate of

         17  attrition turnover has decreased, but it still looks

         18  fairly high. What is the pay scale equivalent into

         19  other investigative bodies? And in 30 seconds or

         20  less, do you have some idea why we are seeing such a

         21  high rate of turnover?

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: We recognize there has

         23  been a chronic historical attrition problem with the

         24  agency and we have sought to address that by

         25  creating career path plans that would permit us to
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          2  promote people who have been able to distinguish

          3  themselves because of their hard work by promoting

          4  them upwards. So, in FY '98, we devoted about

          5  $173,000 to support a career path plan and in 1998

          6  -- 1999 we devoted about $137,000, and through the

          7  use of those funds we have made about 57 or so

          8  promotions from the entry level up in the ranks of

          9  the confidential investigator series.

         10                 In many ways the salary ranges for

         11  those investigators, there are essentially three

         12  levels, 1, 2 and 3 are very similar to those

         13  salaries, in fact, I think they are the same, that

         14  are paid by other City agencies that employ the same

         15  civil service series of confidential investigators.

         16                 The difference, of course, is that we

         17  have implemented a career path plan which recognizes

         18  grades within the series that permits us to make

         19  promotions in recognition of good, hard work, in an

         20  effort to keep a person longer with us.

         21                 But at the same time, I must say,

         22  Councilman Reed, that we made a decision early on in

         23  our recruitment of investigators that we wanted

         24  higher quality investigators, that is somewhat

         25  atypical of investigators in other agencies, and in
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          2  exchange in doing that we accepted a somewhat higher

          3  attrition rate, since many of the people that we

          4  hire have other options after one or two, after two

          5  years or one or two years in going to graduate

          6  school or law school. But the exchange that we

          7  realize is that we have a person with good skills,

          8  good analytical and critical thinking skills and

          9  writing skills, and the result is that we get a much

         10  higher quality product, investigative product, in

         11  terms of the analysis and the investigative record

         12  that we submit to the board for those cases that are

         13  substantiated to the Police Commissioner.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: On this point,

         17  it is sort of anomalous that you spent a good deal

         18  of your time testifying to us as to the level of

         19  complexity of the training, for example, on legal

         20  issues, constitutional issues, and the like, that

         21  you are bringing to your investigators, and then

         22  your salaries are like for a beginning investigator

         23  are what, like $28,000?

         24                 MR. LOPEZ:  It's 29,789.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, I mean, you
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          2  are asking people to be abreast with some of the

          3  advanced areas literally of the law that even the

          4  supreme court is wrestling with in its current term

          5  and they are being paid $29,000. I mean, it seems to

          6  me to be an argument, as he says, stepping up the

          7  pay scale because you need a quality of person that

          8  is really at odds with what you are paying them;

          9  isn't that true?

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: You are right. It has been

         11  an effort on our part to attract quality candidates,

         12  and to not only attract them and recruit them but to

         13  retain them for a significant period of time.

         14                 As you know, we have asked them, for

         15  every person that we hire we have asked for a

         16  two-year commitment, and I think that the attraction

         17  of the job is the experience, not so much the money.

         18  And we have had some further success in lowering the

         19  attrition rate. While we have had a nine percent

         20  decrease on an FY to FY basis, the first three

         21  months of this year, for example, our attrition rate

         22  was about 8.2 percent, compared to the same period

         23  last year, when it was 13.2 percent or thereabouts.

         24  So, I think our efforts to cut down on attrition

         25  through an aggressive career path plan are starting
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          2  to pay off, but I agree that it is still a fairly

          3  significant number, and it does eat up quite a bit

          4  of resources on our part in terms of training and

          5  recruitment and interviewing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We will get back

          7  to this point later, when we get further to the

          8  issue of resources.

          9                 Also, his point with respect to

         10  truncated cases, you point out there are different

         11  categories of truncated cases, have you considered

         12  presenting in the Mayor's Management Report a

         13  breakdown of your truncated cases? Because there is

         14  still a significant portion of the total cases that

         15  you are dealing with and the reasons vary

         16  considerably.

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: No, we haven't considered

         18  that. I will take it up. But I would like to point

         19  out that we do present that information in the

         20  semiannual report, in which we do break out the

         21  number of complaints truncated by those that are

         22  withdrawn or those people who are uncooperative or

         23  those who are unavailable.

         24                 So, we do make that information

         25  available to the public in our semiannual reports,
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          2  but we hadn't, until you brought it up, thought to

          3  present it in the Mayor's Management Report.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. And can I

          5  just make one closing observation on your somewhat

          6  lengthy colloquy with Mr. Reed, with respect to

          7  trends in individual areas, and I think you closed

          8  by saying that you publish information, you do do

          9  some analysis, you convey that privately to the

         10  Department, it seems to me, while it is the case

         11  that you put forth a lot of statistics and you let

         12  people draw their conclusions from the statistics,

         13  since you deal with the statistics and analyze the

         14  statistics and make recommendations with respect to

         15  the statistics, it ought to be seriously considered

         16  making public the conclusions you draw from the

         17  statistics, because you are an independent agency

         18  and it seems to me that, you know, getting it out

         19  beyond you and the Commissioner would have value. If

         20  you consider information analysis to be value. I

         21  think it is value.

         22                 Going on, Councilman Robles.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman. There are two areas I would like to go

         25  into, one, I want to pick up on this discussion that
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          2  has been in place, because that is an area that

          3  while you have come a long way, we need to still at

          4  least fine-tune it so that if I read this book, your

          5  semiannual report, I could be able to understand

          6  what I am looking for, and, second, John Doe, who

          7  perhaps might be a victim, you know, and all of a

          8  sudden finds out that there is a book they can go to

          9  and they want to understand this book, because

         10  sometimes we put things together, numbers, and

         11  really don't understand it. But let me pick up on

         12  this issue.

         13                 If you turn to your semiannual

         14  report, which is from January until June of this

         15  Year, but if you turn to page 86, and the table is

         16  34, it says officers with one or more complaints by

         17  assignment of officers by borough and precinct. And

         18  I just happened to look at the precincts in my

         19  district, but let me make sure I understand this.

         20                 The total number of complaints that

         21  started in January of '98, and ran all the way until

         22  December of '98 were what?

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: The total number of

         24  complaints from January through --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: For the whole
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          2  12 months of '98, it says here 437 for the first six

          3  months and 325 for the other six months, which you

          4  can get a number there, correct?

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, the total number of

          6  complaints can be found in table 1.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Help me there.

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: Which is on page 31.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Hold on for a

         10  second. Because I will tell you what my problem is

         11  in trying to understand the scenario.

         12                 MR. LOPEZ: In 1998, calendar year,

         13  there were 2,599 complaints. In '99 --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, now, of

         15  those 2,500 cases plus, in 1998, the number at the

         16  end of that will not be the same because you will

         17  perhaps have some cases that are unfounded, you may

         18  have some cases that were not substantiated, but

         19  there was a number that was referred to the Police

         20  Commissioner for action.

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: That's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: What was that

         23  number?

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: In 1998?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes.
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          2                 MR. LOPEZ: That number was -- just

          3  bear with me for a second.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Do we find

          5  this in this report?

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: On what page?

          8  I am just trying to, again, walk through to make

          9  sure I understand what I am reading.

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: Three-hundred, on page 91.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         12                 MR. LOPEZ: Three-hundred cases were

         13  referred to the Police Commissioner --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: You said 91?

         15                 MR. LOPEZ: On page 91.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Page 91.

         17                 You said that in '98 it was 91 cases?

         18  That is what you said?

         19                 MR. LOPEZ: No. On page 91 --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: There is table 35.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: There is table 35.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: On table 35, there is a
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          2  breakout of the number of substantiated cases that

          3  of course were referred to the Police Commissioner.

          4  In the first half of 1998 there were 127 such cases

          5  referred to the Police Commissioner, in the second

          6  half of 1998 there were 173. The total would be 300.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay. Now, of

          8  those cases, where do we find in your reports --

          9  because remember, Gene, you were around, one of the

         10  things that we had reminded the Police Commissioner

         11  was the law mandates that they must report back to

         12  you the disposition, the outcome of those cases that

         13  were referred to his Department. And if you

         14  remember, there was a time where you were not

         15  getting that kind of information; do you recall

         16  that?

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, I do.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay. And I am

         19  assuming now, since everybody says, oh, now things

         20  could be better, but we are talking to each other,

         21  the question is, of those numbers, how many of those

         22  numbers can I look to see what action the Police

         23  Commissioner took?

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: Let me say, just before

         25  the hearing --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And I want to

          3  be clear, I am a simple person who wants to read

          4  this book, who wants to know whether or not the

          5  Civilian Complaint Review Board -- you know, one of

          6  the things that I keep saying to people, I mean to

          7  say to the world is, we changed the Civilian

          8  Complaint Review Board through a law that says this

          9  will be now in all Civilian Complaint Review Boards.

         10  Then many of us went around to our community saying,

         11  look, you have to trust it. It is like the lottery,

         12  you have got to be in it to win it. If you don't

         13  file your complaint, if you don't do this, if you

         14  don't do that, then what is it we can do?

         15                 I am trying to make sure that I

         16  understand the numbers and the action and I am not

         17  talking about cases that you found and you referred

         18  to the Police Commissioner and there was a number at

         19  the end of 1998. My question is, of that number,

         20  what was the number that was reported back to you

         21  that says we did the following. And I looked at your

         22  table of contents on page 98, as you and I were

         23  discussing before --

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And here is
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          2  what my dilemma is, I see a number; is that the

          3  number -- is this '99? Where is '98 so we can look

          4  at it in this report?

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, the data that we

          6  present is not sorted by the year of referral to the

          7  Police Commissioner. Although, I agree that would be

          8  more helpful. And I think in our discussion before

          9  the hearing I said that I think we should try to go

         10  forward and try to do that type of analysis.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So that would

         12  be that type of recommendation.

         13                 MR. LOPEZ: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And that has

         15  to be a recommendation that has to be implemented by

         16  both your agency and the Police Department, that is

         17  what I am trying to lead to, correct?

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: I think we have the

         19  information on which to do that already from the

         20  Police Department. And for example, in the cases

         21  that were substantiated in 1998, like I said, there

         22  were 300, those 300 cases involved 413 police

         23  officers, and we have gotten information from the

         24  Police Department with respect to some of those

         25  dispositions, and out of the 413 cases that
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          2  individuals were involved in those 300 cases, 166

          3  cases, individuals have had their cases resolved.

          4  And of those, 115 were the subjects of discipline

          5  sanctions having been imposed upon them.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me share

          7  with you what I do when I get your report --

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: Actually it is 115 of 150.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me share

         10  with you what I do when I get your report. I take,

         11  and I have to be parochial back in my district

         12  because I have to then focus on the precincts that I

         13  represent, and what I do is I take whatever

         14  information I got from your report and I share with

         15  everybody about the number of complaints and what

         16  have you. Here is my dilemma:

         17                 According to your book, in 1998 I

         18  took two precincts that I am privileged to

         19  represent, I took the 90th Precinct, which is where

         20  I live, and according to your records, or your book,

         21  there were 22 cases out of the 90th Precinct that

         22  was reported as a complaint filed.

         23                 What I cannot find is of those

         24  numbers how many of them were forwarded to the

         25  Police Commissioner, and what action did the Police
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          2  Commissioner take against -- and I don't expect the

          3  number to be 22, but I can't believe that all 22 all

          4  of a sudden is not going anywhere, because you

          5  forwarded to the Police Commissioner, because your

          6  investigation, now they can't say you don't have the

          7  professional investigators like they used to say

          8  about you, do you remember that time? They can't say

          9  now that you are not submitting it on a timely

         10  basis, as your testimony says, you know, we are even

         11  sending them much better. And so for me and for the

         12  public, I think what we need to do is, it is not

         13  about numbers, it is not about a report, it is about

         14  tracing and tracking so that someone who may be the

         15  complainer, might, even though they may disagree

         16  with the outcome, might feel that somebody is not

         17  only from the beginning, but to the very end. And

         18  the end is by letting people know what was the

         19  outcome, especially those that the Police

         20  Commissioner gets.

         21                 And it is hard for me, although the

         22  number here says guilty after trial, 19, it doesn't

         23  tell me of those 19, was any of the 22 in the 90th

         24  Precinct, and back in '98 were the ones; do you

         25  understand?
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          2                 MR. LOPEZ: No, I understand, sure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I suggest you

          4  look at that.

          5                 Now let me go into the second area.

          6  Your investigators' headcount, I believe after we

          7  put money in, is 121. You have the ability to hire

          8  121 investigators. You said that you are at 104

          9  currently, that means you have 104 investigators

         10  currently working for the CCRB, that's correct.

         11                 In 1998, your total number of

         12  complaints that came in, do you have also a

         13  breakdown of the total? A breakdown, and I am really

         14  pursuing the language. Because like in the

         15  hospitals, for example, someone gets sick, gets

         16  rolled into a hospital, you could have the best

         17  doctor, but you got to get the information you need

         18  in order to try to help them. So, can you tell me,

         19  in '98, what was your greatest number of

         20  complainants? Were they Hispanic? Were they

         21  Caucasian? Were they African-American? Was language

         22  a prime factor? Was the language, I am assuming,

         23  although may be Hispanic, but could be also Creole,

         24  it could be French, it could be Russian Jews. Do, do

         25  we have an idea of the number of people that you
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          2  needed someone to interpret in order to get the kind

          3  of information you need as the investigation is

          4  going on?

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, our staff is fairly

          6  diverse, and I would say I can't tell you what the

          7  percentage of investigators who were Latino or

          8  Hispanic were in 1998, but I think the current

          9  number is around 17 or 18 percent.

         10                 And not only that, there are also

         11  other members of the staff who were perhaps not

         12  Latino or Hispanic, who also speak Spanish. But

         13  beyond that, we also subscribe to a service, either

         14  an interpreter service, for any language that the

         15  complainant might not speak that we might not have

         16  the ability to understand, or the other alternative

         17  that we have at our disposal is, the interpretation

         18  services offered by AT&T, for example.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Gene, let me

         20  tell you this: I am a Puerto Rican. I do not speak

         21  English. Like it or not like it, I don't speak it. I

         22  could be Cuban, I could be Dominican, I could be

         23  Central American, I can be a Russian Jew, coming

         24  from Russia.

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Clearly, I am

          3  told of a process that someone has assigned to me, I

          4  am assuming the investigator is assigned to the

          5  case, correct?

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: With all due

          8  respect, I don't want to talk to the phone.

          9                 And I am not complaining, I am trying

         10  to get a handle as we address your needs during

         11  budget time, my question is, what is your number and

         12  where are you? You could be 17 percent, maybe we

         13  should be at 50 percent, not 17. You have come a

         14  long way, but unless we keep reminding you and help

         15  you, that 17 percent may stay at 17 when it should

         16  be at let's say 25 percent.

         17                 Please don't do like the Police

         18  Department about all of a sudden I have to talk to a

         19  nut box or a machine. Listen, if you assign someone

         20  to me, and I want to build a relationship of trust,

         21  okay, that trust does not happen in a phone.

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: No, you are right. You

         23  know, we don't use the AT&T services to conduct the

         24  interview, we simply use the services to arrange for

         25  the interview, and then when we go to the interview,
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          2  we bring either a person who can speak the language

          3  or we bring an interpreter to assist in the

          4  investigation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me get to

          6  my point again.

          7                 Investigating an allegation, there is

          8  such a thing as confidential and trust.

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Someone must

         11  feel comfortable with an individual. I must tell

         12  you, it is not only the CCRB, and now I am Chairman

         13  of the Health Committee and I have learned there is

         14  even health services, people tend to speak freer

         15  with one person who they feel comfortable with than

         16  to have -- like when I first came here from Puerto

         17  Rico, I used to have, I used to interpret for my

         18  mother, because we didn't even deal with that. And I

         19  must tell you, as a young person growing up, there

         20  were things that were discussed that were very

         21  embarrassing to me, because there were personal

         22  things that even though in my own family were very

         23  embarrassing to me. And again, I am not being

         24  critical, but let me go back to my basic question.

         25                 I guess you know what your caseload
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          2  is and what it reflects. What is your caseload, what

          3  is that reflection in terms of is the numbers of

          4  non-English-speaking, what is that percentage?

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: In 1998, the proportion of

          6  the complainants who identify their nationality or

          7  race or ethnicity that were Hispanic or Latino were

          8  23 percent of the complainant pool. There were

          9  nearly 23 percent who identify themselves by their

         10  race as white and nearly 50 percent, a little bit

         11  more than 50 percent who identified themselves as

         12  African-Americans, and then a small percentage, four

         13  percent as other nationalities.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So in that

         15  percentage, '98, then you feel with the number you

         16  have currently as investigators, you are meeting

         17  that need, and I don't mean staff, I do not mean

         18  phones, I am talking about investigators. Your total

         19  complement of investigators, 104. Based upon the 17

         20  percent that you just gave me, do you believe that

         21  that percentage is meeting the demand of your agency

         22  as you attempt to deal with, what I repeat, I want

         23  to separate the difference between calling the

         24  office and an investigator gets assigned to a case.

         25                 MR. LOPEZ well, of course we would
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          2  like to hire right up to 121, and the people that we

          3  hire, we would like very much to have them reflect

          4  the diversity of the City of New York, and have not

          5  only the ability to speak English or Spanish, as

          6  many languages as they are capable of speaking, to

          7  address the level of confidence and trust that I

          8  agree is very important to any investigation that we

          9  undertake, either here or any other investigative

         10  body that might undertake such an investigation.

         11                 So, yes, we are concerned about that,

         12  we want to hire up to 121 people as quickly as we

         13  can, we want to get the best people that we can, and

         14  part of the mix of the best people, not only is

         15  their academic record, but the other intangibles

         16  that they bring to the table in the way of having

         17  the facility and faculty to speak one or two or

         18  three or four different languages and other

         19  intangibles that have to do with having a

         20  sensitivity of how important it is in the

         21  investigative process to gain the confidence and the

         22  trust of the people with whom they have to interview

         23  and take information from, sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

         25  Councilman Robles.
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          2                 Councilman Stanley Michels.

          3                 MR. LOPEZ: Good morning, sir.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Good morning.

          5  Good to see you again.

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I have a

          8  great vested interest in your organization, and what

          9  you are doing, and I am glad to see that you are

         10  making good progress, and am really appreciative. I

         11  take it all of your, where you find there is a

         12  substantiation, a recommendation does accompany them

         13  now.

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, it does.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay.

         16                 MR. LOPEZ: Nearly 100 percent, since

         17  you brought it up in October of '96.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think it is

         19  very important.

         20                 What the people don't understand is

         21  that the Police Department doesn't have to follow

         22  your recommendations and they then have a hearing de

         23  novo. And these recommendations that you make, and

         24  these decisions, the quasi judicial determination

         25  that is made is more like an indictment rather than
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          2  a conviction, in the sense that your investigator

          3  goes out, makes the investigation, makes the report

          4  and then reports back to your three of your

          5  commissioners; is that correct? Is that the way you

          6  divide up the -- do they actually meet with the

          7  investigator or just have the reports when they

          8  meet, the three commissioners?

          9                 MR. WOHL: They get the reports from

         10  the investigators, and then if the panel of

         11  commissioners has any follow-up questions, then they

         12  can talk to the investigator.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And generally

         14  speaking, what is the procedure, they actually meet

         15  with the investigators.

         16                 MR. WOHL: Generally speaking, they

         17  get the report of the investigator and act on the

         18  report of the investigator.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Without

         20  meeting them.

         21                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

         22                 The reports have generally been I

         23  think very high quality, and --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. The

         25  point I was making, I am not criticizing your
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          2  procedure at this time, but I think the important

          3  point is you realize how important the investigators

          4  are.

          5                 MR. WOHL: Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Without the

          7  high quality investigators and then the confidence

          8  the Commissioners have in their investigative

          9  reports, you really can't even -- your agency can't

         10  function.

         11                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I just

         13  hope everybody realizes that. And that is why it is

         14  so important that these investigators are the most

         15  skilled possible type investigators. It is very

         16  difficult job being an investigator.

         17                 MR. WOHL: It is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I am not

         19  going to go into the issue of the pay, the numbers

         20  and everything like that, but what is your average

         21  -- how much time does your average investigator

         22  spend with your agency before he leaves?

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we ask them for a

         24  two-year commitment. Although, we have had instances

         25  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It probably

          3  takes them two years to learn how to be a good

          4  investigator. If they don't have prior experience.

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: My sense of it is that it

          6  takes about a year to get your legs and really

          7  become fluent with the investigative process in the

          8  types of issues that are thrown at you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Is more than

         10  one investigator assigned to a case?

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: Pardon?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Are sometimes

         13  more than one investigator assigned to a case?

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, our structure, we

         15  have eight teams and each team has a manager or

         16  supervisor and assistant supervisor.

         17                 There are weekly conferences by the

         18  management --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So, he

         20  supervises the investigation?

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  And before

         23  the report is sent to the Commissioner, is the

         24  report reviewed by the supervisor?

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, there is weekly
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          2  conferences, and then as the case progresses towards

          3  completion, in fact the manager and the supervisor

          4  have to sign off on the report to signify that they

          5  have reviewed it and are in agreement. If there is a

          6  disagreement, the managers or the supervisors can

          7  write a memorandum in which they express the basis

          8  for the disagreement.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And that will

         10  also go to the commissioners?

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I was

         13  wondering, Mr. Chairman, whether it would do us any

         14  good just to get a feel for what happens here, if we

         15  could possibly ask the Commission to give us a

         16  sample of the types of investigatory reports with

         17  names and dates and places deleted, obviously, but

         18  just to sort of get a feel, an idea. I like to be

         19  hands-on, I like to know what I am talking about,

         20  and I think it is important, and I am wondering if

         21  that is something that can be done, it would be

         22  helpful.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Would you

         24  consider that?

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: I would bring it to the
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          2  Board's attention.

          3                 MR. WOHL: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You know, we

          5  don't want to know anything about it, except just

          6  get an idea of the quality of the work that is so

          7  important. It is a good argument to try to do what

          8  you are doing and have a career path and perhaps

          9  give the money that is needed.

         10                 What is the average wage of an

         11  investigator?

         12                 MR. LOPEZ: The level 1 investigator

         13  is started at $29,789. About 50 percent or so of our

         14  staff --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It sounds

         16  like what a DA gets.

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: Pardon?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It sounds

         19  like what an entering level District Attorney gets.

         20                 MR. LOPEZ: I think the entry level

         21  for a DA is a little higher.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: A little

         23  higher, maybe.

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: We have also, as I said,

         25  created a step-up level 1, which pays $32,768. Level
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          2  2, is $36,627. We have created a step-up level 2.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Two years

          4  generally what is the average?

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: They would be in either a

          6  2, 2 plus, or an Assistant Supervisor.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And what

          8  would they be making?

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, level 2 plus makes

         10  $39,015. Level 3, an assistant supervisor makes

         11  $42,411. And level 4 makes --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you know

         13  who you lose your investigators to?

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Generally we lose them to

         15  graduate and law schools.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So there they

         17  incur debt, they don't make money.

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Any other

         20  agencies?

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: We haven't seen migration

         22  to other agencies. There have been a few people who

         23  have gone to the Police Department.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think you

         25  may have covered this, but I am not sure. While an
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          2  investigation is pending and there is a lawsuit

          3  brought by the individual against the City, and

          4  whatever, the police officer, do you have a policy

          5  with respect to what happens to your investigations?

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we go forward with

          7  it. Now, you know, the complainant and his attorney

          8  may decide not to continue their cooperation for

          9  whatever reason it might have, and if that is the

         10  case and we require their cooperation, in order to

         11  reach the merits of the case, then we would have to

         12  -- we can't keep the case on the docket

         13  indefinitely and we would submit it to the panel

         14  with a recommendation to close the case as a

         15  complainant unavailable.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And that

         17  would become a truncated case?

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, it would.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And how long

         20  would you keep it on your docket? If you said, look,

         21  we want to hold it in obeyance while the lawsuit --

         22  because the calendar is pretty up-to-date I

         23  understand in the Supreme Court.

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, that decision is

         25  really kind of a case-by-case decision.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is an

          3  automatic dismissal, the truncation?

          4                 MR. LOPEZ: No. I mean, if a person

          5  thinks that they will conclude their business within

          6  a reasonable time, period of time, then we will

          7  wait. On the other hand, if it takes a couple of

          8  years --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Now, what if

         10  the lawyer wants to subpoena your affidavits from

         11  the police officer?

         12                 MR. LOPEZ: We consider this through

         13  an opinion of counsel from the Law Department on

         14  Freedom of Information, and --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, not so

         16  much freedom of information, but subpoena. I mean,

         17  you have a sworn statement by a police officer done

         18  by an investigator and I, as an attorney

         19  representing somebody who is bringing a lawsuit

         20  against the City, I would immediately hit you with a

         21  subpoena. What is the law on that?

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, if it is a

         23  court-authorized subpoena we would honor it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You would

         25  honor it.
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          2                 MR. LOPEZ: Right. If we have a sworn

          3  to subpoena, so ordered subpoena, we would abide by

          4  the law.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And is that a

          6  problem? Do you think that in any way inhibits your

          7  operation, to be subject to that?

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: I can't say that it has.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It hasn't

         10  happened, has it?

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, it has happened.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: To a large

         13  degree?

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Pardon?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: To a large

         16  degree has it happened?

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: (To Ms. Finkle) what do

         18  you think?

         19                 With Flo Finkle, with whom I just

         20  conferred --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I am

         22  glad you are consulting with someone.

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: Her experience has been

         24  that in cases in where a complainant has filed a

         25  civil litigation, that her experience has been that
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          2  a good number, a great many of those cases, often we

          3  get the subpoenas from the parties involved.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Subpoenas of

          5  affidavits, and you would comply with them?

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, we would. I think the

          7  law in the area, that we are required to do that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I would

          9  think so. I just didn't know whether there was any

         10  specific -- do you think that is a good idea? Do you

         11  think that perhaps you should have immunity on those

         12  statements of some sort?

         13                 MR. LOPEZ: I am reminded that when a

         14  judge authorizes a subpoena, that is not to say that

         15  the complainant or the party in whose benefit the

         16  subpoena has been issued has an automatic right to

         17  review the information that we provided.

         18                 It goes back to the judge for an

         19  in-camera inspection, for during which the judge has

         20  to make a decision.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

         22  about the affidavit. I mean, your reports to me may

         23  very well be hearsay, or there may be an exception

         24  to the hearsay rule, for some reason, done in the

         25  course of business. But it would seem to me that the
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          2  information, the affidavit would be very helpful to

          3  a lawyer.

          4                 MR. LOPEZ: You are referring to the

          5  party's statement to us?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

          7                 MR. LOPEZ: Okay. I would like to

          8  study that before I give --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Please do. It

         10  occurs to me sitting here, I want to uninhibit your

         11  agency as much as possible because I believe you set

         12  up a broad public purpose, and therefore it is

         13  important that everybody who does work with you,

         14  works with you in a way in which they are

         15  uninhibited by outside possible threats, and yet at

         16  the same time the individual does have the rights to

         17  pursue what they want to pursue.

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The other

         20  thing is, you are giving up arbitration I

         21  understand, for mediation. What does this mediation

         22  consist of, and what happens as a result of this

         23  mediation?

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, the mediation

         25  program is a voluntary alternative dispute
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          2  resolution mechanism --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: As was

          4  arbitration, right?

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we don't have a form

          6  of arbitration in a classic sense of that word, what

          7  we had was conciliation. And the difference between

          8  the two --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have to

         10  agree to it to go into it.

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: Pardon?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have to

         13  agree to it in order to participate.

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes. For mediation both

         15  parties, both the officer --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And

         17  conciliation as well?

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Conciliation

         20  is just something you offer and you try to get to do

         21  --

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, the complainant would

         23  have to agree to it, but the officer wouldn't have

         24  to agree to undergo the conciliation.

         25                 So that is the major difference. And
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          2  of course the other differences are that in

          3  mediation we provide a forum through the benefit of

          4  a third party, the mediator, to help resolve the

          5  conflict that gave rise to the complaint in the

          6  first instance.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What is the

          8  role of the agency in the mediation, besides

          9  bringing people together?

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: Pardon me?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What is the

         12  role of your agency in mediation, other than

         13  bringing the people together with a mediator?

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we have to identify

         15  cases that are eligible for mediation. On every

         16  allegation there is one that we would seek to

         17  mediate. We would not, for example, seek to mediate

         18  a case involving excessive force which resulted in

         19  an injury to an individual.

         20                 So, we need to select cases that are

         21  suitable and good sense for mediation, and then we

         22  need to identify whether the officer is eligible or

         23  the complainant are eligible for mediation, and if

         24  they are then we would --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you make
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          2  the determination before you offer it to the

          3  parties.

          4                 MR. LOPEZ: Right. And then we would

          5  offer it to the parties, and then we would supply

          6  the mediator, who is providing their services on a

          7  pro bono basis for the agency.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And the final

          9  area that I wanted to ask you about is the

         10  interesting aspect of, and I am asking in a sense to

         11  try to get a feel for what you are doing, because I

         12  think it is a good to be a lot of cooperation

         13  between the Police Department and your agency,

         14  because it is important that they have due regard

         15  for the reports and use the reports. And what you

         16  are telling me in your statement, that is happening

         17  better, much better.

         18                 But you do say in here, and maybe in

         19  your statement, I think it was your statement,

         20  saying the Board has found a reasonable or something

         21  they would do and that it would be a reconsideration

         22  by the Police Commissioner. If you rendered a report

         23  and you found obviously substantiations, because it

         24  is the only thing you referred to the Police

         25  Commissioner, a substantiation with a
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          2  recommendation, and you get from him a

          3  reconsideration. And that reconsideration is not to

          4  make it tougher, it is probably to say maybe this

          5  shouldn't have been a substantiation in the first

          6  place; am I correct on that? It should have been an

          7  unsubstantiated complaint?

          8                 MR. WOHL: The discussion we have had

          9  with the Police Department so far has been that the

         10  request for reconsideration would be to reconsider

         11  whatever our finding was. We haven't gotten specific

         12  about what that finding might be that it would have

         13  to be a substantiated case, otherwise it wouldn't

         14  have gotten to the Police Department.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.

         16                 MR. WOHL: Or to request additional

         17  investigation, which could be any number of things.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  So, it could

         19  be that he said there just are not enough facts in

         20  here for me to call for a de novo hearing?

         21                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: He might want

         23  some more work. And instead of him going ahead in a

         24  de novo hearing and determine the facts, he is

         25  asking you to determine the facts for him?
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          2                 MR. WOHL: That's right. Or it could

          3  be get some additional evidence together in order to

          4  present it at the hearing. He has decided he wants

          5  to go forward at a hearing but he feels there is

          6  additional investigation necessary in order to get

          7  the proof ready for the hearing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you have

          9  met with the Police Commissioner on some occasion to

         10  discuss some of this?

         11                 MR. WOHL: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And the

         13  reason I bring that up is because I value the very

         14  important aspect of the independence of your agency,

         15  and I just want you to be conscious of the fact,

         16  because I don't want you to compromise your

         17  independence. I am not saying you have or this could

         18  do, but this is something you have to be very

         19  seriously considering that you don't want -- you

         20  want to be able to cooperate with the police, but if

         21  you don't have such a cozy relationship, then you

         22  become just an arm (sic) in the Police Department. I

         23  am not sure you are conscious of it, but I think

         24  that is something you should have in the back of

         25  your head.
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          2                 MR. WOHL: Absolutely right, and I

          3  think the Board members have definitely had that in

          4  the front of their heads, as they have considered

          5  this issue.

          6                 But we, I think as a group it is fair

          7  to say, we think it is helpful if the Police

          8  Department disagrees with the recommendation, rather

          9  than just dismissing the case and not saying

         10  anything about it, say come back to us and express

         11  the reasons why they disagree with it, and then the

         12  Board can either say we are not going to change our

         13  position, we adhere to our original position, or the

         14  Board can take another look at it and see what it

         15  thinks.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Two bites of

         17  the apple.

         18                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay. You

         20  would understand from reading your testimony why

         21  that would hit in my head as to why I think it is

         22  something you should be very conscious of.

         23                 MR. WOHL: Well, we are definitely

         24  extremely conscious of the issue of the independence

         25  of the agency.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: All right.

          3  Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

          5  Council Member Michels.

          6                 Council Member Martin Golden.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman.

          9                 Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.

         10                 The mediation and conciliation, is

         11  that final?

         12                 MR. LOPEZ: In conciliation, first off

         13  let me say that May of this year the Board

         14  discontinued and suspended its conciliation program

         15  in recognition that we need to go forward in a more

         16  aggressive way with the mediation program.

         17                 When parties agree to mediate, they

         18  have the option, either side, the police officer or

         19  complainant, to withdraw from the mediation during

         20  the course of the mediation. But at the conclusion

         21  of the mediation, and I might also point out that

         22  the mediator may also decide to declare an impasse.

         23  If he or she in having sat through the mediation

         24  comes to the conclusion that the parties transient

         25  and there isn't any reason to think there will be
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          2  any further movement towards the resolution of the

          3  complaint, so those are circumstances which would

          4  prevent a mediation from going forward and

          5  completing itself.

          6                 When both sides agree that the

          7  mediation has been successful and the issues that

          8  they have raised have been addressed in a

          9  satisfactory manner, they have the option of signing

         10  a resolution agreement which would bring closure and

         11  finality to that complaint. And I think in all but

         12  one or two complaints that we have mediated, all the

         13  parties have agreed and signed such a resolution

         14  agreement --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: What happens

         16  at an impasse?

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: It would then revert to,

         18  the complainant would have the option to ask for a

         19  full investigation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: So they can go

         21  back for full investigation?

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes. And in doing that,

         23  the complainant and the parties have agreed that

         24  anything said during the course of the mediation

         25  would not be part of the investigative record that
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          2  would be developed as a result of the full

          3  investigation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And if more

          5  was developed in the mediation, that substantiated

          6  more the charges, could that be toned back to a full

          7  investigation?

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: No, the idea about the

          9  confidentiality of the mediation is that it remains

         10  within the confines of the mediation process and not

         11  be used as part of the full investigation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: That could be

         13  subpoenaed though, that information.

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: No, well the

         15  confidentiality agreement provides for that

         16  possibility and the parties in having signed the

         17  confidentiality agreement I believe agree that they

         18  will not cause the material to be subpoenaed for any

         19  other proceeding that would address the underlying

         20  circumstance for which the mediation agreement was

         21  convened.

         22                 In fact, I have with us today the

         23  Director of the ADR Program, Ray Paterson, who is in

         24  the audience.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Civil as well
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          2  as criminal?

          3                 MR. LOPEZ: Ray informs me that no

          4  record is made of the mediation program, and

          5  whatever notes that are kept to assist the mediator

          6  are destroyed upon the conclusion of the mediation

          7  program -- session.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay. And the

          9  mediator couldn't be subpoenaed?

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, again, in the

         11  agreement I think that is signed there is I think

         12  the recognition of the possibility that that would

         13  occur, but the parties agree not to do that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 The conciliation, do you plan to

         17  return to conciliation?

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: I think the Board plans to

         19  examine our experience since May of the mediation

         20  program and whether the suspension of the

         21  conciliation program has had a tangible discernible

         22  and positive impact on the mediation program, and I

         23  think once they express our experience, they will

         24  make a judgement as to whether to keep the things

         25  the way they are now or to reintroduce conciliation
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          2  in the form that it was or perhaps in the new form.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: When do you

          4  plan to do that?

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, the Board has asked

          6  us to suspend mediation through the balance of this

          7  year and then we would revisit our experience and

          8  talk about what we might do. So, I would think that

          9  some time in the first quarter of 2000 the ADR

         10  committee, which is a committee of the board, would

         11  sit down and examine the experience that we have had

         12  since May, in having suspended conciliation and what

         13  the impacts, what the benefits have been for the

         14  mediation program, and make a judgement as to

         15  whether we would continue with the way we are now in

         16  suspending mediation, or to reintroduce conciliation

         17  in some modified form or the same form it was before

         18  we suspended it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Are officers

         20  coming forward for mediation?

         21                 MR. LOPEZ: I think the experiences I

         22  have had and, you know, that Ray Paterson has told

         23  me of, is that there is a tangible benefit that both

         24  police officers and complainants enjoy and receive

         25  as a result of the mediation.
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          2                 First, there is a neutral form in

          3  which to have frank discussion, without the fear of

          4  disciplinary actions hanging over one's head. And it

          5  is an opportunity to clear misconceptions or

          6  misunderstandings that may have contributed to the

          7  filing of the complaint.

          8                 We have done 37 mediations thus far,

          9  since the initiation of the program in May of 1997.

         10  We have done 21 thus far this year, which is more

         11  than double that which we did in 1998, and we did 14

         12  in '98 and the results that I am familiar with, I

         13  can say that there has been I think a real tangible

         14  benefit for both parties in clearing the air they

         15  have walked away with a better appreciation of each

         16  other's concerns, and I think it promotes a better

         17  understanding from both the officer's perspective

         18  and the complainant's perspective for the rights and

         19  roles police officers play and the concerns that

         20  people have with respect to law enforcement

         21  activities undertaken by police officers.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: The two cases

         23  that were not resolved, did they go back for a full

         24  hearing?

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: No, the two cases that did
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          2  not result in a signed resolution agreement were

          3  nevertheless successful because the parties agree

          4  that they resolved all of the outstanding issues,

          5  and the only hang-up was I believe there was a case,

          6  both in which in one case I think the officer didn't

          7  want to sign the resolution agreement and the second

          8  was the complainant, but they nevertheless agreed

          9  that it was successful and our rules permit us to

         10  record that as a successful mediation, despite the

         11  fact that one or the other party didn't sign the

         12  resolution agreement.

         13                 What would cause us to throw a case

         14  out of the mediation, back into the full

         15  investigation process, would be a statement by the

         16  complainant or the officer saying this isn't working

         17  out, this isn't satisfactory, I am not satisfied.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Very good. The

         19  number of cases, going into a different area right

         20  now that an investigation would carry a caseload, I

         21  see number was 22, it went to 28, what is the

         22  practical number for an investigator in your unit to

         23  carry?

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, the optimum number,

         25  as we are increasing the bar with respect to the
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          2  sophisticated nature of the analysis and we want to

          3  be aggressive in doing quality timely and thorough

          4  investigations and strong analysis of facts that

          5  support our views. So, I think the optimum would be

          6  in a range of 15 to 20.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And practical

          8  is generally what, 28 cases?

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: Twenty-eight, 29 cases

         10  also reflects three to five cases that any

         11  investigator at any given time may have pending for

         12  a review before a board panel. So the working number

         13  from 29 is about 26, more or less.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay. The last

         15  question, an Article 78 I understand was overthrown

         16  by a court recently in a case for an individual

         17  police officer that was involved in an OATHs trial

         18  or OATHs hearing; did you hearing anything? Is

         19  Article 78 no longer an option for OATHs?

         20                 MR. LOPEZ: I hadn't heard that, no.

         21  As I understand the law, once the commissioner signs

         22  off on a disciplinary proceeding the respondent has

         23  the option to have a court review that decision

         24  based on the sufficiency of the evidence or the

         25  capricious nature of the penalty through an Article
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          2  78 proceeding.

          3                 I hadn't heard that that is no longer

          4  a vehicle for review.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Could you get

          6  back to me if you find that to be in fact the truth?

          7                 MR. LOPEZ: Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And thank you

          9  very much for your testimony today.

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: Thank you, sir.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just some

         12  additional points that haven't been addressed, I

         13  know Council Member Michels has one question as

         14  well.

         15                 With respect to case completion time,

         16  on page 22 of volume II of the MMR, there is some

         17  data with respect to completion time. You see the

         18  actual was 233 days, the plan was 214 days in Fiscal

         19  Year '99; why did the average completion time for

         20  fully investigated cases take 19 days longer than

         21  planned?

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: Your numbers were where?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The very bottom

         24  of page 22 of Volume II, the last line.

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: Okay, 214 versus 233?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            99

          1  CIVILIAN COMPLAINT REVIEW BOARD

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. I think

          3  your testimony indicated that the 233 had come down

          4  a lot from what it had been in prior years.

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: In prior years, yes. The

          6  difference, the shortage of what, 16, 17, 19 days,

          7  the difference of 19 days between the plan and the

          8  actual, I think that the difference is that we had

          9  of course projected that as a goal back in the year

         10  before, and based on what we had seen in the

         11  reduction of average time from one period to

         12  another, thought the 214 was a reasonable goal well

         13  within reach, we came up a little bit short.

         14                 At that time, I might say, includes

         15  -- this is a calculation, includes, that starts

         16  with the date of occurrence, not necessarily the

         17  date that we get the case.

         18                 So, of course that would be to our

         19  detriment. We certainly couldn't work on a case

         20  before we got it.

         21                 In fact, when we did an analysis of

         22  comparing the date of occurrence to the date of

         23  report, for cases over nine months, we found a swing

         24  of almost 26 percent in which the cases over nine

         25  months were reduced by 26 percent when you did the
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          2  calculation based on date of report. So it does have

          3  a big impact, but we used this average based on date

          4  of occurrence, and we also include the time that the

          5  case is pending before a panel for a review, that is

          6  included in the calculation because we only close

          7  the case after a panel tells us to close the case.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. And your

          9  projection for Fiscal Year 2000 is 204 days.

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER Now, you know, as

         12  you did last year, that, you know, it is going to be

         13  from the time the complaint arose, rather than from

         14  when it is taken to your attention. All things

         15  considered, why do you think you can achieve that,

         16  if it took 233 days on average in Fiscal Year '99?

         17                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, I think we have a

         18  reasonable chance of meeting our goal with the

         19  additional people that we have recently have

         20  allocated to our staff on 115 to 121, and I think

         21  through our increased efforts at management and

         22  efficiency, along with additional investigative

         23  assets that we have the ability certainly to seek to

         24  achieve that goal.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. Just one
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          2  or two points with respect to -- let's see -- on

          3  page 59, with respect to the Alternative Dispute

          4  Resolution Program, your objective was to conduct

          5  275 conciliations, originally in the Fiscal Year,

          6  your original plan in Fiscal Year '98 MMR was to do

          7  conduct 350, but the reduced number, I take it, is

          8  the product then of some time in the middle of the

          9  year you decided to reduce, to stop doing

         10  conciliations; is that right?

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And that is why

         13  you got a smaller number there.

         14                 With respect to mediations, your plan

         15  is to conduct 50 over the next fiscal year. You

         16  know, it still seems to me to be a somewhat small

         17  number, doesn't it?

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: I think the experience

         19  that we have had thus far this year, which was

         20  subsequent to when we developed a plan, has been a

         21  lot more encouraging. As I said in answer to --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I was following

         23  that.

         24                 MR. LOPEZ: What?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I was following
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          2  that. It seemed that your experiences had been good.

          3  First it makes you wonder why you reduced the

          4  current year all the way to 25.

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: Pardon me?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It makes one

          7  wonder why you reduced your objective of conducting

          8  only 25 mediations in Fiscal Year '99. It seems to

          9  me to be one might have expected more.

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: I think that goal was set

         11  prior to the Board's deciding to discontinue

         12  conciliations.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The

         14  conciliations.

         15                 MR. LOPEZ: And the desire of the

         16  Board is certainly to emphasize mediation, much more

         17  than it has in the past, and I would agree with you

         18  that an objective of 50 is very small with

         19  comparison with what our hopes are. It does remain

         20  to be seen, however, whether the complainants and

         21  the officers accept the mediation process and

         22  whether it works as well in large numbers, as we

         23  hope it will.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

         25  headcount, you know, you can see from the statistics
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          2  on page 27 that you just still had not in the years

          3  referred to here achieve your full headcount; do you

          4  anticipate achieving your full headcount in Fiscal

          5  Year 2000?

          6                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we certainly are

          7  geared toward achieving that goal.

          8                 Last year, at the end of the year we

          9  had 106 out of 115 people on board. We had a vacancy

         10  rate of about eight percent. I think most of the

         11  agencies for planning purposes assumes a seven

         12  percent vacancy rate.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see. So, you

         14  think you are pretty close to the standard.

         15                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we have 104 now, and

         16  recently we -- you know, until the discussion

         17  between OMB and the Finance Division of the City

         18  Council was resolved, we were gearing ourselves

         19  towards 115, and now 121, and we are continuing our

         20  interview process and I hope that we will have

         21  another class before the end of this year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: All right.

         23                 Now, in the course of our discussions

         24  over the last, you know, two and a quarter hours,

         25  you have pointed out that you expect and you are
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          2  experiencing in Calendar Year '99, an increased

          3  number of complaints, which has gone on even after

          4  this Fiscal Year '99 closed, and you also have the

          5  additional responsibilities that you discussed with

          6  Council Member Michels with respect to, you know,

          7  your new responsibilities, recently the NYPD in

          8  conducting the investigations that they want

          9  further. So, do you need more resources, more

         10  investigators to do both of these than you

         11  anticipated, for example, you know, earlier in the

         12  year?

         13                 MR. WOHL: I think we are certainly

         14  going to be making a budget submission shortly that

         15  will indicate what we think our needs are.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. That is

         17  sort of an Adelpha comment.

         18                 MR. WOHL: I think we have been

         19  preparing this but I think it would be appropriate

         20  to make sure the entire board is aware of what we

         21  are proposing before we propose it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But it is

         23  correct, though, is it not, and explain to the

         24  extent that it isn't correct, that you now have

         25  outlined to us needs for additional resources that
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          2  weren't the case say back in the spring, in terms of

          3  now you can see that complaints have increased in

          4  calendar '99, they have increased even since the end

          5  of the Fiscal Year '99.

          6                 In addition, this additional

          7  arrangement you have been discussing with the NYPD

          8  for further investigation pursuant to their request

          9  that will require more resources, will it not? I

         10  mean, it seems to me to be obvious that they may in

         11  some instances ask you to further the investigations

         12  that you would have thought you had already

         13  completed and that they would then do.

         14                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Plus, you even

         16  said you would like to reduce the average caseload

         17  per investigator further.

         18                 MR. WOHL: That is absolutely right.

         19  What we anticipate doing is expressing our views

         20  with respect to the needs that we have concerning

         21  the cases that we have already seen and the

         22  reflection of the increase in case load, and then we

         23  are going to have to deal with the Police Department

         24  proposal and we are probably not going to know

         25  immediately how much additional resources will be
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          2  required to deal with that proposal, but I think we

          3  are going to certainly learn it as a proposal, or as

          4  the process commences.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: My conclusion

          6  would be that the facts seem to dictate that you

          7  would request additional resources beyond what you

          8  got in the spring of this year just to do what you

          9  now see to be your responsibility.

         10                 Council Member Michels had another

         11  question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Just one

         13  other final area which just occurred to me.

         14                 You get complaints, signed

         15  complaints, families come in, and then I don't think

         16  it is unreasonable to understand that with so many

         17  complaints some people may come to you and say,

         18  look, I want to go back on my complaint, and it may

         19  have been a very serious complaint.

         20                 MR. WOHL: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you

         22  investigate the reason why, and see if perhaps there

         23  may possibly have been intimidation?

         24                 MR. WOHL: Certainly the investigator

         25  has a discussion with the complainant to make sure
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          2  that it is a free and voluntary decision.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That was the

          4  point I was making. Because after all, as we say a

          5  crime has been committed, or a violation has been

          6  committed, and it is really not only that

          7  individual, it is really against the people of this

          8  City.

          9                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is a

         11  responsibility on the part of the agency to see to

         12  it and any violation of the laws of this City,

         13  whether they be adjudicated in the courts or

         14  adjudicated before your agency to the extent that

         15  you would adjudicate.

         16                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Are carried

         18  forth and even if they want to withdraw, there may

         19  be certain circumstances that you may want to go

         20  ahead.

         21                 MR. WOHL: Well, we may want to go

         22  ahead, or if we think that some criminal act has

         23  been committed, we have the option of referring it

         24  to the District Attorney's Office.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. That
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          2  means if in fact there is intimidation, right?

          3                 MR. WOHL: That's right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, I just

          5  wanted to get into that area, thank you very much.

          6                 MR. WOHL: Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You gave me a

          8  good answer.

          9                 MR. WOHL: Okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just in

         11  conclusion, one area I didn't get to yet was

         12  outreach. I think we could do a little more on that

         13  as related in the MMR, but with respect to the

         14  protocol that you are currently negotiating with the

         15  Police Department as to reinvestigating in part as a

         16  result of that request. You say you have had

         17  discussions. When do you expect to wrap up this --

         18  not that it is an easy matter, when do you expect to

         19  wrap up your, you know, new procedures with the

         20  NYPD? So that you in fact can begin doing it?

         21                 MR. WOHL: I would hope we would be

         22  able to do that before the end of the year. We have

         23  had more detailed discussions with the Police

         24  Department, we expect to take it up with the Board,

         25  our Board in the middle of this month, and as I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            109

          1  CIVILIAN COMPLAINT REVIEW BOARD

          2  said, I would like to be able to have this going by

          3  the end of the year.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So you think by

          5  the end of the year you and the Police Department

          6  can work out the arrangements?

          7                 MR. WOHL: Yes, that is my hope.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

          9  outreach, I am looking now at the bottom of page 59

         10  of volume one. It said you conducted 95 public

         11  presentations in Fiscal Year '99, you are planning

         12  to do 60 in Fiscal Year 2000, could you explain why

         13  you are planning to do fewer?

         14                 Although, obviously, you know, one

         15  good one is worth two poor ones, so, you know, I

         16  always found this piece of data to be needing

         17  further amplification to be meaningful.

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: I would interpret the goal

         19  of 60 to be a ceiling. As we have in the past, I

         20  think the prior goal was 60 and we went well beyond

         21  the 60 and did 95, and I think we are on a good pace

         22  now that we will exceed the goal of 60 for this year

         23  as well.

         24                 I think although we have done 89

         25  community meetings this year, Calendar year, I think
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          2  31 are since July 1st.  I think we will again exceed

          3  the goal, we may well reconsider raising the goal to

          4  reflect the actual activity.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How do you

          6  actually select where you are going to make these

          7  public presentations?

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, we notify, we tape

          9  into a community-based organization database and we

         10  do mail solicitations and send the community

         11  organizations and schools our literature and

         12  brochures and semiannual reports and let them know

         13  if they wish to have a presentation that they are

         14  encouraged to call us and that is how typically we

         15  arrange for presentations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: At the bottom of

         17  page 60 of Volume I there is a narrative section

         18  with respect to community outreach.

         19                 It says that in Fiscal '99, in June

         20  1999, the CCRB began production of two public

         21  service announcements for broadcast on commercial

         22  television.

         23                 Could you give us a little more

         24  detail about this? What do they say? Who is the

         25  target audience? When and on what station will these
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          2  announcements be shown?

          3                 MR. LOPEZ: The two PSAs are still in

          4  production, and while much of the footage, I think

          5  it is a ten second and a thirty second spots, there

          6  is still work to be done on finishing the video

          7  footage, and we plan on once they are done, having

          8  them available both in English and Spanish and we

          9  would seek to put them on public television, as well

         10  as whatever station, private stations, commercial

         11  stations that would be willing to take them on as

         12  public service announcements.

         13                 And the content is very similar to

         14  the prior PSAs that have been aired on both public

         15  and commercial television.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could you give

         17  us a copy of these announcements?

         18                 MR. LOPEZ: Sure, I will. When we

         19  finish them up, sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And last in this

         21  area is, people have stated that an unsubstantiated

         22  finding is admissible in court and can hurt a court

         23  case with regard to the same incident as a CCRB

         24  matter, and that as a result people have deterred,

         25  who intend to pursue court cases from filing a CCRB
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          2  complaint. Is that something you are aware of?

          3                 MR. LOPEZ: I can say that I was

          4  consciously aware of it. I think I may have heard

          5  different opinions from different courts about the

          6  admissibility of CCRB findings.

          7                 MR. WOHL: I think we certainly are

          8  aware anecdotally of the fact that some people who

          9  withdraw their complaints or say they don't want to

         10  pursue it, say that the reason they don't want to

         11  pursue it is because they have brought or anticipate

         12  bringing a civil lawsuit and they have been advised

         13  by their attorneys that if they want to pursue a

         14  civil lawsuit it is not a good idea to bring a CCRB

         15  complaint.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         17                 Do you address this issue when you

         18  make presentations to different communities?

         19                 MR. LOPEZ: I don't believe we get

         20  into the legal issues to that degree, no.

         21                 I would be interested in knowing the

         22  cite for that case you mentioned.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is not so

         24  much a legal case, you know, as a sense amongst many

         25  people that they are filing a CCRB complaint and may
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          2  introduce complications with respect to filing a

          3  civil proceeding and that they are advised and that

          4  they get a sense that if they want to pursue a civil

          5  proceeding and seek a recovery, you know, pursuing a

          6  proceeding with the CCRB may be inconsistent with

          7  success.

          8                 MR. WOHL: I think that is an

          9  interesting issue that I think Councilman Michels

         10  also raised.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I thought I

         12  would mention it again.

         13                 MR. WOHL: In somewhat of a different

         14  way, and I think Mr. Lopez correctly suggested that

         15  if we were going to give some definitive answers on

         16  that, we probably ought to give it some more study.

         17                 I think that our current community

         18  announcements or discussions probably, we probably

         19  would find it difficult to argue to people that they

         20  are wrong when their attorneys say to them it is

         21  going to introduce complications and I am not sure

         22  what the answer is to them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Maybe the thing

         24  to do then is to also consider at least explaining

         25  that at a public meeting so people would at least be
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          2  aware that this is an issue, without taking a firm

          3  position as to how it ultimately would impact but

          4  that it is something that people ought to at least

          5  consider.

          6                 MR. WOHL: Right. I think that the

          7  problem is we do not want to be in the position of

          8  seeming to give people legal advice of in effect

          9  particularly advising them on what the best strategy

         10  is for them if they want to try and get a financial

         11  recovery.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It seems to me

         13  you could think through a way which would just be

         14  fair notice that maybe it would be something like

         15  pursuing a CCRB complaint may have an impact on a

         16  lawsuit.

         17                 MR. WOHL: We could do that. I think

         18  that most plaintiffs' attorneys would probably be

         19  pretty quick to advise their clients of that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         21                 You may have people who come into

         22  your presentations who don't have attorneys.

         23                 MR. LOPEZ: When an individual comes

         24  for an interview or we do the initial interview, our

         25  investigators are advised that their statement could
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          2  be discovered in the course of the investigation by

          3  other entities. But we don't tell them what impact

          4  it might have on their litigation. And as Chairman

          5  Wohl indicated, I think it would be somewhat

          6  dangerous to involve ourselves in the business of

          7  providing some legal advice.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It wasn't meant

          9  to say that you should provide legal advice, but

         10  just, you know, at least make people aware that

         11  pursuing a complaint may have an impact on a civil

         12  suit that may be brought if one is brought. It is

         13  something to consider, that is all I ask.

         14                 I was given by our staff, Amy Weber,

         15  who did a lot of good work preparing for this

         16  hearing, questions with respect to your policies

         17  regarding E.mail inquiries. Can I give you a copy of

         18  these questions and would you try to get back to us

         19  within say ten days with responses?

         20                 MR. WOHL: Sure. Can I E.mail it?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes, that would

         22  be good. I would be interested in seeing that.

         23                 MR. WOHL: I just accomplished the

         24  learning task of E.mail.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, good.
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          2                 Okay, are there any other questions?

          3  If there are no other questions, we thank you for

          4  answering our questions here today and look forward

          5  to working with you in the course of the year.

          6                 MR. WOHL: Thank you very much.

          7                 MR. LOPEZ: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The next hearing

          9  of this Committee will be three weeks from this

         10  morning, we will have the MMR with the Police

         11  Department, and then we are scheduled on December

         12  9th having another meeting with Police Commissioner

         13  Safir, with respect to the follow-up on the

         14  implementation by the NYPD of recommendations made

         15  in the Council's post Louima report and the Mayor's

         16  Task Force Report, following the Louima case.

         17                 This meeting is concluded. Thank you.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 12:40 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 3rd day of November 1999.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            118

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410
